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picked up a highly credible draw against Australia and
a very welcome win against England in the Six Nations.
Our sevens team proved to be very successful winning
four trophies and will be seeded fourth next year by the
IRB for the Dubai and George tournaments. 

At age-grade level, it was great to see Wales reach the
semi finals of the IRB U19 Championships in Belfast
proving we are moving our rugby development in the
right direction; this is testament to our past decision to
invest heavily in our age-grade academies. 

In chairing the Board of the Welsh Rugby Union I am
profoundly grateful to my vice chairman Ken Hewitt and
the chairs the sub committees, Martin Davies, Russell
Howell and Alan Jones, for their support and hard work.
My thanks must also go to Roger Lewis for his hard work
and guidance in developing our great union.

David Pickering
Chairman
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
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None of us could have predicted the huge grief felt by the
game in Wales with the loss of our President, Keith
Rowlands, and then our Life Vice Patron Sir Tasker
Watkins. These great men have left an indelible mark on
rugby, not only in Wales, but around the world. Their
contributions to our game and our reputation worldwide
have been immense: history will reflect this. It was a
privilege to have their friendship and to have been the
recipient of their sage advice. 

On the business front we have entered a new era. There
has been wholesale change in the executive charged
with the day to day running of the game. The past year
has seen Roger Lewis take up the reins as our Group
Chief Executive and he has built up a vastly experienced
senior team in order to drive our business forward.  Solid
foundations have been laid over the past twelve months
and we remain optimistic for the future; the Millennium
Stadium remains the jewel in our crown and in 2007/08

will again host rugby entertainment of the highest order
here at our headquarters in Cardiff. 

We look forward to working with all our stakeholders in
the future, further developing existing relationships and
forming new relationships with the Welsh Assembly
Government and Cardiff City Council particularly.

As I reported last year, we correctly predicted that
2006/07 would be a tough year financially. We saw the
tough times coming because we understand the trends
and phases of this business and, in this transitional year,
the Group posted a profit before tax and exceptional
items of £1.0m. 

Also as outlined last year, 2006/07 has seen much
needed investment into the professional, semi
professionals and community levels of our game.  The
funding increases for 2007 over 2006 in these areas
were 32%, 25% and 9% respectively and it is
recognised that these funding increases contributed
significantly to the Group’s financial result. However,
given the cyclical nature of the Group’s business, we felt
it important that funding levels were maintained and that
the Group was able to sustain these levels by absorption
from accumulated reserves.  

It is anticipated that these funding levels can continue but
we must also be cognisant that, seven years on from its
birth, sums of capital will need to be spent at the stadium
to keep it at the cutting edge of a highly competitive
business.

Turning to the domestic rugby front we congratulate
Llandovery on their historic victory in the Konica Minolta
Cup and the Ospreys and Scarlets for winning the
Magners League and reaching the semi-final of the
Heineken Cup respectively.

On the international scene Gareth Jenkins made his
debut as Head Coach. Whilst it was not the easiest
introduction to the international arena in Argentina he

David Pickering 

Prince William with David Pickering at his first match as Vice Royal Patron

David Pickering



and uncertainty over the future of the European Rugby
Cup with its potential negative impact on regional rugby
occurred. However, a new four year agreement was
reached with our national squad players and the build
up to the 2007 Rugby World Cup got underway.

Encouragingly the Group, on a pre-exceptional basis,
has made a profit before tax of £1.0m, which is better
than anticipated in what was always going to be a
difficult year. Group turnover exceeded £43.5 million.

Furthermore, the Group has paid across a record
£14.9m (2006: £11.8m) to our Regions, clubs and
other affiliated organisations. 

However, as a result of our review, there were
exceptional items of £3.3m identified and these have
been charged to the profit and loss account this year;
only £0.8m impacted the Group’s cashflow for the year
ending May 31 2007 as set out in Note 23 of the
financial statements.

We have also spent time this year defining our vision and
our mission

The Group’s Vision is three fold:    

• Taking Wales to the world with our rugby     

• Welcoming the world to Wales in our stadium 

• Defining Wales as a nation 

The Group’s mission is based upon its three pillars:

• Elite Rugby – leading Welsh rugby to the forefront
of the global game in performance and reputation

• Community Rugby – developing grass roots
rugby, increasing participation, supporting clubs
and bringing communities together

• Stadium – promoting the Millennium Stadium as a
unique, must play, must visit venue

Our vision and our mission are underpinned by such
values as integrity, excellence, success, courage, family,
and humour. 

All our staff are fundamental to our success.

During this year, I have made major changes to the
Executive Board of the Group. The two former Chief
Executives of the Welsh Rugby Union and  Millennium
Stadium plc are no longer with the Group. There are new
external appointments for the roles of Group Finance
Director (Steve Phillips), Head of Legal Affairs (Mike
Jefferies), Head of Communications (John Williams) and
Head of Marketing (Gwyn Dolphin) and there are internal
promotions to the posts of Head of Compliance (Julie
Paterson) and Stadium Manager (Gerry Toms) alongside
the Head of Operations (Tim Burton) who joined the
Executive Board in 2005. The post of Elite Performance
Director was identified as a need during the year and has
been fulfilled on the Executive Board by the Elite
Performance Manager (Mostyn Richards). Together, the
new Executive Board is evolving a five year plan and
strategy to take the Group forward, has reviewed the
systems in operation together with improvements required
and has conducted a root and branch review of the
Group’s income and expenditure in preparing forecasts
for future financial performance. 

I have presented detailed authority levels for the Directors
and Executive Board to the Board of the Company and
these have been approved. We have worked hard at
reforming our internal financial management. 

In particular, I would like to highlight certain activities
over the past twelve months.
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Group Chief Executive’s overview
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Our ambition is to create long term sustainability for all
of our activities both on and off the field underpinned by
sound financial management.

Within the body of this annual report, we reflect on
various new initiatives and developments that are in
hand, give details of our performance in specific rugby
and stadium related activities and review in detail our
financial performance over the course of the past
financial year.

The past twelve months has been a year of significant
change for the Welsh Rugby Union and the Millennium
Stadium. Having joined the Group on 30 October 2006,

almost half way through this financial year, ended 31
May 2007, I have embarked on a fundamental review of
the Group’s strategy, finances, structure and staff.

This review has taken place against a backdrop of
notable activities. A number of major stadium events
returned to Wembley and the remodelling of our stadium
deal-making processes commenced. We witnessed a
mixed performance from the National Team in the RBS 6
Nations and negotiations in respect of evolving the
professional rugby participation agreement with the four
Regions began. A review of both our community rugby
activities and a review of the Premiership commenced

Roger Lewis

Roger Lewis presents Rhiwbina RFC with their Division Five South East trophy



game which continually captures the hearts and minds of
our nation and is central to our country’s culture.

But we must not take anything for granted. 

We believe we have developed a very clear strategy
going forward with clearly identified business risks
which need to be managed. There are a number of
additional major initiatives underway which, when
delivered, will have a significant positive long term
impact on the future of the Group. These include:

• a plan to enhance the Millennium Stadium by
developing land to its east,

• a proposed new commercial arrangement for our
hospitality and events at the stadium, 

• a new marketing strategy for the stadium
emphasising its city centre location, guaranteed
activity with its retractable roof and its multi-
purpose functionality, 

• a detailed economic survey of the benefits the
stadium delivers to Cardiff and Wales, 

• the relocation of the Group Headquarters into the
Millennium Stadium,

• a new long term participation agreement with our
four Regions to ensure their sustainability to
compliment their new stadia, 

• the creation of the new post of Elite Performance
Director to identify, nurture and develop talent
and ensure we have the right staff, structure and
systems in place to take the game forward, 

• new training facilities for the national teams at
Hensol,

• reviews of the national team, the premiership and
the community game,

• a commitment to align our rugby strategies at elite
and grass roots level with the broader political
and funding strategies for Wales as well as
ensuring our own internal game and commercial
strategies are connected.  

In the short term there is much to look forward to – we
welcome South Africa to Wales for a Centenary Test in
November when we will play for the inaugural Prince
William Cup. We rejoin the IRB world-wide Sevens
circuit in December, and we will have hosted four
matches of the 2007 Rugby World Cup by the time of
our annual general meeting in October. We will have
three home RBS 6 Nations games in Cardiff in 2008
along with the EDF Energy Cup semi-finals day in March.
The stadium has a varied programme of high profile
mixed events this coming year including rock concerts
with The Police in October, boxing with Joe Calzaghe’s
unification fight in November and the giant spectacle of
Monster Jam in October. We also welcome a host of
regulars including speedway, rugby league, the Wales
Rally GB and the Wales national soccer team. 

We will end the coming financial year on a rugby high
when we host the 2008 Heineken Cup Final at our
Millennium Stadium. The hard work that has taken place
this year will give us a strong foundation on which we
will build for the future of the Welsh Rugby Union and the
Millennium Stadium. 

I thank everyone who has not only contributed to our
success this year but those who are also securing our
future going forward – staff, players, coaches, clubs,
officials, directors, sponsors, media and fans – diolch yn
fawr iawn.     

Rugby defines us a nation, unites us as a nation and as
a union we will continue to stand together united around
the overarching goal of placing Wales at the forefront of
world rugby, with passion, with pride and with dignity.

Roger Lewis
Group Chief Executive Officer.
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
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Group Chief Executive’s overview
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At the Elite level of the game there has been much to feel
positive about.
Our academies, financed by the Group with support of
Objective 1 funding from the Welsh Assembly Government,
are producing exciting new talent and their future must be
secured. All four Regions contributed significantly to an
exciting Magners League and we finished with three of the
four top spots, including the Ospreys as League champions.
Cardiff Blues and the Ospreys played each other in the semi-
final of the Anglo –Welsh EDF Energy Cup with the Ospreys
finishing as losing finalists. The Scarlets once more flew the
flag for Wales at the semi-final stage of the Heineken Cup and
the Newport Gwent Dragons contested the semi-finals of the
European Challenge Cup. Off the field, the Group played its
part in ensuring the continuation of this great competition.

The performance of the national team has come under
intense scrutiny this year and following the Rugby World
Cup, there will be a full scale review into our national game
to ensure we take Wales forward at this level. The creation
of the new post of Elite Performance Director will assist in
this process. The success of our national Sevens team has
been a highlight alongside that of the national and regional
age grade teams, in particular the U19s reaching the semi-
finals of the IRB U19 World Championships. The continuing
development of our women’s rugby academy and the  full
integration of Welsh Women’s rugby into the Group will
help women’s rugby to flourish.

The Principality Premiership is the bridge to the
professional game and is under review as is the whole of
the community game. We need to put in place an
agreement with the semi-professional game as well as
the grass roots game which is firmly based upon
activities and outcomes. To ensure we maximise the
participation and enjoyment of rugby throughout Wales
we must ensure our rugby clubs continue to be the centre
of our communities. Rugby is, and must remain, our
national sport. The grass roots game is the heart and
soul of Welsh rugby.

There were many memorable moments this year, not
least the dramatic victory of Llandovery RFC over Cardiff
RFC in the Konica Minolta Cup final following their win
over Llanelli RFC in the semi-final, alongside a vibrant
and dynamic ASDA League season across Wales.

The role of our officials at all levels of the game should
never be underestimated – no referee, no game.  

It was particularly encouraging to see Nigel Owens and
Hugh Watkins represent Wales at the Rugby World Cup
as referee and touch judge respectively.

The Millennium Stadium is the jewel in the crown of the
Group.
It has played host to a range and breadth of activities
this past financial year. Rock and pop acts such as Take
That, The Eagles, Madonna and the Rolling Stones
alongside boxing, football, rugby league, Wales Rally
GB  and speedway have made the stadium the biggest
single visitor attraction in the whole of Wales. The role of
the commercial and sponsorship and events teams has
been critical this past year.      

The future promises to be very positive for us all

We are a world player in a sport which is compelling
and engaging for spectators, broadcasters, media
owners and sponsors alike and we own an iconic
stadium which is one of the finest multi-events venues in
the world. Furthermore we are the governing body of a

Head Coach Gareth Jenkins and Roger Lewis await the action



Group activities

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited’s (“Company”) principal
activity is to promote, foster, encourage, control and
improve the game of rugby union throughout Wales. The
Company wholly owns Millennium Stadium plc (“MS”)
and collectively are referred to as the Group.

Financial dynamics of the business

The activities, both operational and financial, of the
Company and MS are so intrinsically linked that there is
little merit in assessing the performance of one without
the other. Whilst they are two separate legal entities and
are obliged to prepare separate financial statements, it
is the Group performance that is the only meaningful
measure.

The Group must deliver on its commercial activities to
allow re-investment in both elite and community rugby
and to facilitate any allocations to affiliated
organisations.

Accordingly, the Group’s income generation is
paramount to deliver its stated objectives. The key
economic income driver of the Group’s business is the
hosting of events at the Millennium Stadium; particularly,
the hosting of international rugby events featuring the
Welsh team and especially a winning Welsh team. The
more matches that are played, the greater the Group’s
match revenues and, therefore, the Group’s profits that
are available to be re-invested in Welsh rugy. These
earnings are derived mainly from ticket income and
broadcasting income. Attendance at these matches is a
key component and for the year ended 31 May 2007
(“YE07”), the Group welcomed 418,000
(2006:505,000) rugby spectators through its turnstiles
for the Autumn internationals and the RBS 6 Nations
Championship. The average attendance per match was
70,000 (2006:72,000) and equated to an average
94% (2006:98%) when expressed as a measure of
capacity attendance with this year’s two (2006:three)

home Six Nations matches effectively at a 100%
capacity. The primary reason that the average was down
to more people watching the Fiji match in 2006 than the
Pacific Islands match in 2007.

Commercial income, including sponsorship income, club
and box seat income and hospitality income, are also
critical to the financial performance of the Group. 

Within reason, our operational cost base is relatively
fixed, albeit there are incremental costs if more Group
controlled events are staged. As a consequence,
incremental events should mean incremental profits
which can be reinvested into the game across all levels.
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Operating and 
Financial Review
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The Group’s business Steve Phillips
Group Finance Director

Prince William with Neil Jenkins and James Hook
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Professional - International

Gareth Jenkins was appointed as National Coach in
April 2006 and had his first international assignment in
Argentina on the two-Test end of season tour. With 20
players left behind to recover from injury and to prepare
for the RWC07 campaign it was a chance to view some
younger talent. The Pumas won both Tests - 27-25 in
Puerto Madryn and 45-27 in Buenos Aires - but Wales
emerged with three new stars in the making in James
Hook, Ian Evans and Alun Wyn Jones.

The Invesco Perpetual Series 2006 started with a 29-29
draw with Australia followed by wins over the Pacific
Islanders, 38-20, and Canada, 61-26. Then the ultimate
test; the All Blacks, who secured a 45-10 win to inflict the
only Welsh defeat in the four match series.

The 2007 RBS Six Nations Championship did not start
well for Wales as Ireland triumphed 19-9 in Cardiff.
Scotland, who also lost on the opening weekend,
defeated Wales at Murrayfield 21-9 in the second match
of the championship. 

Wales have enjoyed considerable success in Paris since
Stade de France – three wins in their previous four visits
– but although they outscored France 3-2 in tries, Wales
were defeated by 32-21 in the third match.

Controversy surrounded the final whistle in Rome when
Italy won 23-20. Wales thought, having consulted with
the match officials, they had time for one final line-out
only for the match officials to subsequently not allow the
game to proceed. This was only the second
championship defeat to Italy although Wales did match
the Italians try for try.

England came to the Millennium Stadium with three wins
from four. The 27-18 Welsh win in front of a capacity
crowd earned Wales fifth place ahead of Scotland,
albeit on a superior points difference.

Wales travelled to Australia for their two-match end of
season tour leaving 18 squad players behind in
preparation for RWC07. Wales performed well in the
first Test, leading until the dying moments but the match
ended in a 23-29 defeat. The second Test was
significantly more one-sided in favour of the home side
with Australia scoring three tries in their 31-0 victory. 

The international results for the year fell short of
expectation but the squad had continued to develop in
strength towards Rugby World Cup 2007.

Elite Rugby

Shane Williams scores against Australia in November 2006

Gareth Jenkins, Alan Phillips and Gareth Thomas
James Hook - Man of the Match against England

Summer Tour 2006
Argentina 27 Wales 25
Puerto Madryn, Patagonia, Argentina - 11 June 2006
Argentina scorers: Tries - JM Fernandez Lobbe, JM Piossek, F Leonelli;
Cons - F Todeschini 3; Pens - F Todeschini 2
Wales scorers:Tries - M Jones, I Evans, J Hook; Cons - N Robinson 2;
Pens - N Robinson 2
Argentina 45 Wales 27
Velez Sarsfield, Buenos Aires, Argentina - 18 June 2006
Argentina scorers: Tries - G Tiesi 2, JM Fernandez Lobbe; 
Cons - F Todeschini 3; Pens - F Todeschini 8
Wales scorers: Tries - G Delve, S Williams, L Byrne;Cons - N Robinson,
J Hook 2; Pens - J Hook 2

Autumn Series 2006
Wales 29 Australia 29
Millennium Stadium - 4 November 2006
Wales scorers: Tries - S Williams, M Williams; Cons - J Hook 2; 
Pens - J Hook 3, G Henson, S Jones
Australia scorers:Tries - C Shpherd 2, M Giteau, C Latham; 
Cons - M Giteau 3; Pen - M Giteau
Wales 38 Pacific Islanders 20 
Millennium Stadium - 11 November 2006
Wales scorers: Tries - M Jones, J Hook, K Morgan, L Byrne, 
C Sweeney; Cons - C Sweeney 5; Pen - C Sweeney
Pacific Islanders scorers: Tries - J Va’a, S Mapasua, K Ratuvou;
Cons - T Pisi; Pen - T Pisi
Wales 61 Canada 26
Millennium Stadium - 17 November 2006
Wales scorers: Tries - J Thomas 2, G Thomas, S Williams, M Rees, 
D Peel, C Sweeney, T Shanklin, pen try; Cons - J Hook 8; 
Canada scorers: Tries - D Pletch, M Pyke; Cons - J Prichard 2; 
Pens - J Prichard 3
Wales 10 New Zealand 45
Millennium Stadium - 25 November 2006
Wales scorers: Tries - M Williams; Con - J Hook; Pen - S Jones
New Zealand scorers: Tries - S Sivivatu 3, L McAlister; 
Cons - D Carter 2, N Evans 2; Pens - D Carter 4

RBS 6 Nations
Wales 9 Ireland 19
Millennium Stadium - 4 February 2007
Wales scorers: Pens - S Jones 3
Ireland scorers: Tries - R Best, B O’Driscoll, R O’Gara; 
Cons - R O’Gara 2; Pens - R O’Gara 2
Scotland 21 Wales 9 
Murrayfield - 10 February 2007
Scotland scorers: Pens - C Paterson 7
Wales scorers: Pens - S Jones 3
France 32 Wales 21 
Stade de France - 24 February 2007
France scorers: Tries - C Dominici, L Nallet; Cons - D Skrela 2; 
Pens - D Skrela 5, L Beauxis
Wales scorers: Tries - A Popham, T Shanklin, J Robinson; Cons - S Jones 3

Italy 23 Wales 20 
Stadio Olimpico - 10 March 2007
Italy scorers: Tries - K Robertson, M Bergamasco; Cons - R Pez 2; 
Pens - R Pez 3
Wales scorers: Tries - S Williams, M Rees; Cons - S Jones, J Hook; 
Pens - J Hook 2
Wales 27 England 18 
Millennium Stadium - 17 March 2007
Wales scorers: Tries - J Hook, C Horsman; Con - J Hook; Pens - J Hook 4
England scorers: Tries - H Ellis, J Robinson; Con - T Flood; 
Pen - T Flood; DG - T Flood

Summer Tour 2007
Australia 29 Wales 23
Sydney - 26 May 2007
Australia scorers: Tries - W Palu, N Sharpe, M Giteau, S Hoiles; 
Cons - S Mortlock 3; Pen - S Mortlock
Wales scorers:Tries - G Thomas, J Robinson; Cons - J Hook 2; 
Pens - J Hook 2; DG - J Hook
Australia 31 Wales 0
Brisbane - 2 June 2007
Australia scorers: Tries - D Loane, D Mitchell, J Huxley; 
Cons - S Mortlock 2; Pens - S Mortlock 4



Newport Gwent Dragons were always up against it after a
41-17 defeat at Leicester Tigers and, despite beating
Northampton Saints 26-7 at Rodney Parade, they went
down 23-10 at Worcester Warriors.

Heineken Cup / European Challenge Cup
The Millennium Stadium will host the Heineken Cup final
for a record fifth time in May, 2008 – and a Welsh
finalist for the first time since 1996 would complete the
dream ticket.

The Scarlets did make it three semi-final appearances in
the last eight seasons but the ultimate European club
trophy was claimed by London Wasps as they swept to
a 25-9 Twickenham triumph over Leicester Tigers in front
of a world record crowd for a club rugby match of
81,000 fans.

Before all that, the Scarlets had hoped to become the first
Welsh team to lift the Heineken Cup as they qualified
from the Pool stages with six wins out of six and then
defeated reigning champions Munster in the quarter-
final.  However, they met the Leicester Tigers in the semi-
final and the Scarlets went down 33-17.

The Ospreys had started the tournament positively and,
although they finished with an identical results record to
Pool winners Stade Français Paris – four wins and a
draw from their six matches – the Parisians edged it with
two extra bonus points.

Cardiff Blues failed to make much impact in the
tournament as they won just twice – and both successes
came against Bourgoin – including two pool defeats to
Leicester Tigers. The Blues switched their opening home
match with the Leicester Tigers the short distance to the
Millennium Stadium and 26 thousand fans turned up for
the Round 2 showdown with former double champions
Leicester Tigers.   

The Dragons bowed out of the European Challenge Cup
with a 46-29 away defeat by eventual champions ASM
Clermont Auvergne after a great run in the Pool stages.
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Professional - the four Regions

Ospreys - Kings of the Celts
The Ospreys were crowned kings of the Celts when they
lifted the 2006/2007 Magners League title. On top of
the silverware being on display at the Liberty Stadium for
the second time in three seasons – and Welsh regions
occupying three of the top four spots – the Ospreys also
reached the final of the EDF Energy Cup; the Scarlets
reached the semi-finals of the Heineken Cup and
Newport Gwent Dragons contested the semi-finals of the
European Challenge Cup.

Magners League
In the end the Ospreys made it two Celtic titles in three
years – but they did it with just one point to spare as
Cardiff Blues took the race all the way to the wire.  In a
gripping final weekend of the long haul to the title, the
Blues triumphed 27-11 over Leinster on the Friday night
to go top themselves – albeit leaving the Ospreys
knowing precisely what they had to do against Border
Reivers at Netherdale the following day. The Ospreys
duly won 24-16 in what was the Reivers’ final match
before closure. 

The Ospreys and the Blues each suffered six defeats –
their head-to-head encounters going to the home team
with the Ospreys winning 18-16 and the Blues 30-24 –
but the Ospreys edged it thanks to one more win.

The Ospreys won the title with doubles over the Scarlets,
Dragons, Edinburgh and Border Reivers and notable
home wins over defending champions Ulster along with
strong fellow Irish challengers Munster and Leinster.

The Scarlets made it into fourth place with 12 wins from
their 20 starts with the Dragons in ninth spot. 

EDF Energy Cup
A year after the Scarlets had gone down to London Wasps
in the inaugural final, Welsh hopes of a first winner of the
new-look Anglo-Welsh Cup disappeared at Twickenham on
Sunday, 15 April, 2007 in front of a crowd of 60,000. The
Ospreys, with a poor start against the Leicester Tigers, went
down 41-35. 

For the second season running, the semi-finals were played
as back-to-back matches at the Millennium Stadium
attracting 40,000 fans. The tournament was blessed with
one all-English and one all-Welsh semi-final, guaranteeing
an Anglo-Welsh final.

The Welsh semi-final between the Ospreys and Cardiff
Blues ended in a 27-10 victory for the Ospreys. 

Cardiff Blues produced one of their best and most emphatic
displays of the entire season as they launched their bid for
Pool 2 glory with a resounding 36-20 victory over London
Wasps at the Arms Park.  

Llanelli Scarlets opened with a 26-7 win over NEC
Harlequins but then crashed to a 25-9 defeat at Newcastle
Falcons before ending with a 21-5 defeat at Sale Sharks.  

Elite Rugby

Magners League 2006/07

Club P W D L F A BP Pts

Ospreys 20 14 0 6 461 374 8 64
Cardiff Blues 20 13 1 6 447 327 9 63
Leinster 20 12 1 7 472 376 11 61
Llanelli Scarlets 20 12 0 8 490 417 9 57
Ulster Rugby 20 11 1 8 423 310 9 55
Munster 20 12 0 8 379 294 6 54
Glasgow Warriors 20 11 0 9 434 419 5 49
Edinburgh 20 8 1 11 335 423 8 42
Newport Gwent 20 8 0 12 353 362 7 39
Dragons
Connacht Rugby 20 4 2 14 326 474 6 26

Border Reivers 20 2 0 18 201 545 4 12 Ospreys win their second Magners League title 



Player development

The various strands of the Group’s development process
are working closer than ever before to give Wales the
best possible chance of producing top professional
rugby players.

Never before has there been so much joined-up thinking
within the various aspects of Welsh rugby with regards to
the development of the top young players, from the four
regional academies operated by the Group and from to
the Principality Premiership and from the international
age grade and Sevens squads to the four Regions.

These elements must all work side by side if the Group is
to compete on the world stage and the Group now has
a clear pathway for future professionals.

Wales Sevens go into their first two tournaments as core
members of the IRB Sevens Series at Dubai and George
in December seeded fourth after twice making it to the

last four – at the Twickenham and Edinburgh events. The
U20 squad will have the same privilege at the inaugural
U20 World Championships in June 2008 after the U19
team made it to the semi-finals of the IRB World
Championships in Belfast in April 2007.

Last season, the Group led the field by making an early
decision to field an U20 side in the U21 Six Nations and
felt this move would streamline the elite development
pathway.

That change in emphasis has now been officially
adopted by the IRB and Six Nations committee and this
season will see the inaugural U20 Six Nations and an
IRB U20 World Junior Championships and World Trophy
replace the U21 and U19 tournaments.

As a result, the Group will again streamline the elite player
development structure this season, fielding only three sides
- Wales Sevens, Wales U20 and Wales U18 - as the three-
pronged playing structure of elite young players. No U19
international side will  be fielded in the future.

The Group’s academy structure is seen around the globe as
one of the major successes of professional rugby in Wales.
The four regional academies provide top young players with
individual conditioning, coaching, analysis and off-the-field
advice in nutrition, sports psychology and performance
lifestyle. This resource must continue, be sustained and
developed and the Group is working hard to gain future
funding for the system once the Welsh Assembly Government
Objective 1 funding comes to an end in May 2008. 

However, there is no substitute for match experience and
the Principality Premiership has grown as a competition
and has become a competitive arena where young players
can cut their teeth against experienced rugby players. 

Players such as James Hook and Alun Wyn Jones, who
only a year ago had played the bulk of their rugby in
that league, made a remarkably swift step-up into
regional and international rugby.
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Semi-professional

The Principality Premiership is the bridge to the professional
game. Last season’s Principality Premiership was the most
competitive yet, with three teams – Ebbw Vale, Newport
and Pontypridd, along with eventual winners Neath – all
harbouring realistic hopes of clinching the League title right
up until the final rounds of the competition.

Ebbw Vale led for most of the season but losses to
Pontypridd, Cardiff and Newport and a draw with
Glamorgan Wanderers near the season end saw the
lead pass to Neath when the title holders defeated
Newport away by 30 points to 12.

Pontypridd's season ended with a 20-18 defeat to Neath
at Sardis Road, all but handing the Welsh All Blacks the
title for the third consecutive season.

Newport had one final stab in their last match of the
season, at home to Pontypridd, but they lost 25-28, a
result which secured the win for Neath. Ebbw Vale

earned their second place position courtesy of a 19-12
home win over Llanelli on that final day of the season.

Glamorgan Wanderers had a fantastic finish with five
wins and a 26-26 draw with Ebbw Vale ensuring a
superb sixth place while Llanelli just edged them out of
fifth on try count with 83 tries. 

Both clubs’ strong emphasis on youth benefited a host of
young academy players, with the likes of Wales U19
players Luke Ford and Sam Warburton getting regular
rugby with the Wanderers and players such as Josh
Turnbull. Ken Owens, Hugh Gustafson, Lou Reed and
Daniel Evans all cutting their teeth at senior level with
Llanelli last season. The Group expect to see more of
these players at regional level very soon.

Following the emergence of Alun Wyn Jones, Chris
Czekaj and James Hook from Premiership clubs, this
season saw the arrival of other stars of the future such as
Cardiff’s Tom James and Jamie Roberts plus Morgan
Stoddart of Llanelli. 

Morgan Stoddart and Tom James were recognised in this
year’s Principality Premiership Awards, with Stoddart
taking the Player of the Year Award and James, who
earned a call-up to the Wales squad to tour Australia,
being handed Best Newcomer, the title that Alun Wyn
Jones collected the previous year while on tour to
Argentina. 

The Group is working more closely than ever with the
Premiership clubs in a bid to close the gap between semi-
professional and regional rugby standards. The National
Fitness Director, Huw Wiltshire, is working with
Premiership conditioning coaches to raise fitness levels
and monitor progress, while Premiership coaches are
being offered Continual Professional Development.

There was memorable end to the Konica Minolta Cup
run with Llandovery beating Llanelli in the semi-final
before going on to defeat Cardiff at the Millennium
Stadium for the ultimate honour in Welsh club rugby.

Elite Rugby

The rough and tumble of Premiership action
Tal Selley evades tacklers to forge ahead for Wales Sevens

Mostyn Richards
Elite Performance Manager



Player welfare

The Group’s Performance and Lifestyle manager (Alun
Davies) works to ensure that players’ performance on the
pitch is not affected by factors off the field. 

A key element of the academy system is to ensure that
players have another string to their bow should they not
make it as a professional rugby player, if they become
injured or simply in preparation for their life after rugby.

Out of the 119 academy players registered last season,
only three are not in full time education or employment.
Thirty seven of the academy members are pursuing
Higher Education degree options with subjects including
Law, Medicine, Science, Accountancy, Geography,
History, Psychology, Business, Sports-related degrees
and Engineering, while others are pursuing vocational
subjects such as farming and bricklaying - or have found
employment.

Gone are the days when young players had to choose
between pursuing a rugby career and a profession or
vocation and there is clear evidence that elite, young
players are choosing Welsh Universities for their higher

education in order to continue their
rugby development programme in
Wales.

Vocational training outside the university
sector is also high on the agenda and is
already delivering success.

The performance lifestyle service, which
helps players align their rugby and a
career pathway, is also available to
senior players already playing
professional rugby in Wales who want
to plan for the end of their playing
careers.

Reebok Regional Championship

Defending champions the Ospreys held onto their Under
18 title by beating the Blues 22-15 in the first Reebok
Regional final of the season. At Under 20 level, the Blues
clinched their first Reebok title, overwhelming the
Ospreys 22-7 at the St Helens final.

Blues North were unbeaten throughout the Under 16
Championship season, however they came up against a
clinical Ospreys side in the final who triumphed 22-18 in
a hard fought match.
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Tom James, Morgan Stoddart and Phil Dolman were all
able to step up during the course of last season. 

There is still a gap that must be narrowed, and the Group
is working on conditioning techniques and skills as part
of that work. The Group is also undertaking a review of
the Premiership to ensure its continued growth both on
and off the field. 

Below the Premiership, the Reebok Regional
Championships provide an important competitive
structure for the elite, young players and this season, the
Group has worked closely with the Regions and the
Premiership clubs to ensure that the best young players
will all compete against their peers in this tournament.
The games help with identification, selection and
development of international age grade players and
provide an important taste of a first class sporting
environment. 

Elite coach development 

While the Group is making great strides in the
development of professional players for the future, it is
also vital to develop future regional and international
coaches. A group of Welsh coaches recently spent time
researching coaching techniques within sports around
the globe, from basketball to rugby league and athletics. 

Wales kicking coach, Neil Jenkins, Blues backs coach
Rob Howley, Ospreys coaching trio Jonathan
Humphreys, Lyn Jones and Sean Holley, and academy
skills coaches Gruff Rees, Danny Wilson, Rob Appleyard
and Wayne Jones all spent time away from Wales this
summer in a Group initiative aimed at broadening their
coaching horizons.

Jenkins spent time with Aussie Rules giants Sydney
Swans, Howley took two weeks out from pre season to
shadow former Wallabies' coach Eddie Jones; Lyn Jones
and Sean Holley spent time with the New South Wales
Warratahs and League greats Brisbane Broncos; Wayne

Jones and Danny Wilson spent two weeks with the New
Zealand Rugby Union and Rob Appleyard and Gruff
Rees undertook a study of college sport in the USA whilst
Humphreys worked alongside a scrummaging and maul
coach in Perpignan.

Additionally, Leighton Morgan is now engaged in a
Coach Development Programme with the Premiership
coaches. In conjunction with the Regional Performance
Managers, this programme will support and advise the
Premiership coaches with Continual Professional
Development Programmes along with a close working
relationship whereby the Group can help develop and
support its semi professional coaching resource. The
Group believe that this initiative will be immensely
beneficial to the game at this level and trust the
Premiership clubs to totally support the initiative.

Elite Rugby

WRU skills coaches who travelled the world this summer

Blues U20s clinch the Reebok Regional title

WRU academy players show their versatility
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Elite Rugby

Wales U19 captain Sam Warburton in action

Wales Sevens

Tournament Result

Dubai Shield Winners
George (SA) Plate Winners
Hong Kong Plate Winners
Adelaide Bowl Winners
London Cup semi-finalists
Edinburgh Cup semi-finalists

Wales U20

U21 Six Nations: 

2 February 2007 (Liberty Stadium)
Wales U20 15 - 17 Ireland U20  

9 February 2007 (Falkirk)
Scotland U20 8 - 56 Wales U20

23 February 2007 (Brive) 
France U21 39 - 13 Wales U20 

9 March 2007 (Beltrametti) 
Italy U21 22 - 21 Wales U20

16 March 2007 (Rodney Parade) 
Wales U20 21 - 21 England U20

Wales U19

February 2007 

16 February 2007 Wales 31 - 9 Ireland 

23 February 2007 France 30 - 19 Wales  

April 2007

IRB U19 World Championships, Belfast: 

5 April 2007
New Zealand 37 - 14 Wales  

9 April 2007
Wales 33 - 20 Samoa   

13 April 2007
Argentina 0 - 29 Wales   

17 April 2007 Semi-final
New Zealand 36 - 12 Wales   

21 April 2007 Third-fourth place play-off
Australia 25 - 21 Wales 

Wales U18

3 February 2007
French Academies U18  29 – 29 Welsh Academies U18 

11 March 2007
Wales U18  22 – Italy U18  3  Ebbw Vale

April 2007

Inaugural U18 Six Nations, Glasgow:

8 April 2007 France 16 - 30 Wales 

11 April 2007 England 9 - 21 Wales 

14 April 2007 Scotland 20 - 13 Wales  
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Referees

The 2006/07 season saw the retirement from
international rugby of Nigel Whitehouse who had given
great service to the game at that level. He officiated in
19 international Test matches and it is good to see that
Nigel has decided to continue refereeing on the
domestic front. 

Looking forward, the Group is laying firm foundations
for the future of elite Welsh referees. The Group’s leading
international referee, Nigel Owens, has accepted a four-
year extension to his contract as a full-time referee, while
James Jones has joined Owens and Hugh Watkins as
one of the Group’s full-time officials. Both Nigel and
Hugh were chosen to represent the Group in RWC07.
However, it is vital that there is a plan in place to ensure
Wales has at least equivalent representation at the 2011
Rugby World Cup and beyond. 

The game of rugby has changed at all levels and
refereeing is no different. Professional rugby is constantly
increasing in pace and tempo, and the Group must
prepare its referees accordingly.

All being well, Nigel Owens should still be on the IRB’s
international panel at the 2011 Rugby World Cup and
James Jones at 28, is certainly young enough to progress

to Rugby World Cup level. He controlled the final of the
IRB Under19 World Championships last April. In
addition, Ysgol Bro Myrddin teacher, Tim Hayes has
already progressed onto the IRB touch judge panel.

In the past, players could take up the whistle at the end
of their playing careers and still hope to reach the top of
the tree as an official. That can no longer happen. You
can no longer officiate international rugby into your
fifties, a feat achieved by Derek Bevan who took charge
of a Rugby World Cup semi-final in his late forties.

Therefore, the Group must identify and develop young
referees who have the ability, drive and ambition to
succeed at the highest level if the Group is to continue to
be well represented on the international circuit. 

The Group’s new referees’ academy is helping to do that
with seven officials benefiting from personal conditioning
programmes, individual coaching and video analysis on
a regular basis. 

Womens’ Rugby

It has been another successful year of women’s rugby on
the international stage. 

After finishing in second place in the 2005/2006 Six
Nations, Wales’s highest finish, the National squad were
determined to continue making an impact in 2006/07.
Wins in the autumn over Italy and the Netherlands
helped Wales finish in a respectable third place in the
Six Nations. The 2007 Six Nations was a significant
championship as it was the first year the Six Nations
Committee officially recognised the women’s competition
and it was the first year that the tournament mirrored the
men’s tournament in structure, with Italy replacing Spain.
The final match of the Six Nations against England was
a very special occasion, signifying the twentieth
anniversary of Wales Women’s international fixtures.

The Wales 7s squad competed in the European 7s
Championships and finished in fourth place, with France
picking up the title. Exciting developments occurred in

Elite Rugby

Nigel Owens, Hugh Watkins, Tim Hayes and James Jones

Women’s 7s on the international stage, with the
announcement of the first ever Women’s Rugby World
Cup 7s, being held alongside the Men’s Rugby World
Cup 7s in 2009. 

The Wales Development Squad had a challenging year
participating in the European Championship. They
competed against some very good National Squads of
tier two rugby nations and the team lost their first three
matches in Madrid. The tournament ended on a bright
note, however, with a victory over Russia. 

An invitational U19 squad was created especially for
two matches against USA U19 and Canada U19 and
was one of the highlights of the high performance
calendar. The Welsh Students, in their final season,
recorded two victories over the British Colleges.

This season also saw the inclusion of a Celtic team in the
Rugby Football Union for Women’s Super League in
England, bringing together the best players from Wales,
Scotland and Ireland. The tournament consisted of three
teams of English players and one of Celts. It provided a great
opportunity for the Welsh players involved to play and train
with some of the best European players. The tournament will
continue in the same format next year and is set to be an
essential development step to the international stage. 

Next season, the Elite Performance set up will change,
with the introduction of the Tri-Cymru league, the U20s
National Squad and Welsh Development and Students
being disbanded.

The 2006/07 season saw the WWRU National
Academy, which is an integral part of the WRU’s
Objective 1 funded Academy system, go from strength to
strength, nurturing the most promising young players aged
between 16 and 22 in readiness for the 2008 Women’s
European Cup and 2010 Women’s Rugby World Cup.
The Academy members were coached throughout the
season to reach the pinnacle of their capabilities and the
players selected for the Academy were all involved in
representative rugby or had the potential to feature
regularly in the starting line-up of the National Squad. 

Although the project’s major remit is addressing the
men's elite game, it recognises that women's rugby is a
fast growing sport in Wales and the need for
professionalism and support to the best female players is
vital for its development. The girls in the National
Women’s Academy receive individual skill tutoring,
fitness support, performance lifestyle and nutritional
advice, sport psychology and analysis support.

2006/07 season also saw the inclusion of six sixteen year old
players into the Academy alongside their selection into the
Welsh Students Squad. These girls showed an enormous
amount of talent and potential and have graduated from the
regional rugby programme and the U17 performance camps.  

Wales National Squad
18 Nov 2006, Glamorgan Wanderers RFC
Wales 31 - 7 Italy
3 Dec 2006, Llanrumney University Playing Fields
Wales 24 - 0 Netherlands
03 Feb 2007, Taffs Well RFC
Wales 10 - 5 Ireland
10 Feb 2007, Dunbar RFC
Scotland 0 - 10 Wales 
24 Feb 2007, Stade Guy Moquet à Drancy
France 15 - 0 Wales
07 March 2007, Rugby Roma
Italy 0 - 24 Wales
17 March 2007, Taffs Well RFC
Wales 0 - 30 England
Wales XV
7 Jan 2007, Taffs Well RFC
Wales XV 12 - 19 Nomads
Wales 7s
1-3 June 2007, European Championships
Lunel, France 4th place
Wales U19s 
29 March 2007, Rumney RFC
Wales U19 15 - 14 USA U19
11 April 2007, Taffs Well RFC
Wales U19 13 - 20 Canada U19



impressive growth seen in the previous season and it
appears that this growth will continue in season 2007/08
with over 180 teams indicating their intention to participate
in the National League. 

Season 2006/07 also saw the introduction of the Welsh
Clubs XV to provide an opportunity for younger adult
players in the Community game (Divisions 1 to 5) to
represent their country. All those who witnessed the first
home international against France at Caerphilly in
November 2006 agreed that the thrilling 25-22 victory
over a very good French side was an excellent example
of the quality of the grass roots game in Wales. Indeed,
several of the team that played that evening have gone
on to play in the Elite Performance game with Principality
Premiership sides. The fixtures will continue in season
2007/08 with matches being planned against Scotland
and France.

Season 2006/07 was another year of exciting progress
in the modernisation of coaching in the Community
game. Indeed, such has been the progress that rugby
union has been declared a “Pathfinder” sport by UK
Sport in its stated aim of making coaching in the UK the
best in the world by 2016. Coach education in the
community game already externally identified as one of
the best of any sport in the UK. Courses continue to be in
high demand and the introduction of the UKCC Level 3
course in season 2006/07 is another step in the process.
The first coaching course delivered through the medium of
Welsh was held at Bro Ffestiniog on 6 May and
development has begun on a UKCC Level 4 course which
will complete the suite of courses. Coaching Associations
run on a regional basis providing Continuing Professional
Development (“CPD”) for aspiring coaches and helps
them to stay abreast of developments in the modern
professional game. The support of the Sports Council for
Wales in providing a level of funding for development
activities is gratefully acknowledged. 

The Development Grant scheme has already proved a
great success in helping clubs develop mini, junior, youth
and women’s teams, recruit first aiders and get involved
in referee recruitment and development. It has provided
the incentive for clubs to call in the Development Officers
to produce club development plans and more and more
clubs are recognising the benefits of having such a plan.
This service is available to all  clubs. The Development
Officers are also able to advise and facilitate access to
grants from the Sports Council and other grant-making
bodies.

The Group recognises that rugby in Wales holds a unique
position within our communities and is keen to use this
role on various fronts.

The Group is able to have a positive impact on the health
of the nation through encouraging increased participation
in sport and promoting active and healthy lifestyle choices.

The Group has embraced a healthy relationship with the
Welsh Assembly Government’s Health Challenge Wales
project group, and last year used our national squad
players as role models for healthy living. The players
produced a classroom resource in the form of a DVD
which they delivered to Year 7 and 8 classes in schools
throughout Wales. This got positive feedback and the
resource continues to be used by teachers and “healthy
schools” coordinators. 

The Caerphilly scheme for ‘at risk’ youngsters was an
example of how rugby can be used as a diversionary
activity for youngsters. In partnership with Gwent Police
and the Caerphilly Youth Offending Team, the Group
provided an extended scheme of rugby-related activities
for youngsters in a bid to address issues of social
exclusion, prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and
to motivate the youngsters into becoming positive role
models to other young people.

Similar schemes are set to be launched in Blaenau
Gwent and in the Ospreys region. The work of Group
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The past year has been one of development and growth
for Community Rugby. Tim Burton has assumed Executive
responsibility for Community Rugby and has launched a
detailed review into all aspects of the game. This review
is focused upon ensuring the sustained development and
success of the Community game. The consultation process
will continue into the next financial year with
recommendations due in late 2007. 

Our vision for the Community game is:

Developing grass roots rugby through participation,
supporting clubs and bringing communities together.

This vision reflects the unique role that rugby has
historically played, and must continue to play, in
providing a community focus and a sense of family to all
who participate and contribute whether as player,
coach, match official or volunteer. 

The latest Sports Council for Wales report on the
Development Grant Scheme shows an 8.1% increase in
the number of teams playing Community rugby across all
age groups from mini through to senior rugby and in the
last twelve months the Group has instigated a number of
key initiatives to support that growth. 

The game of ‘Tag’ rugby provides youngsters with an
ideal introduction to the game of rugby. It emphasises
handling and evasion and develops an awareness of the
importance of “space” in the youngsters. It is also
important in that it provides for a fun and safe game in
which the young players and the coaches and teachers
can develop their confidence. This is particularly
important in clubs and schools which may not have
access to playing fields and where the players, teachers
and coaches are not from traditional rugby
backgrounds. The introduction of a Tag Rugby Coaching
course and booklet in the 2006/07 season has helped
all concerned to enjoy their first experience of rugby and
is a major step in growing the game. 

The development of young players continues at ‘Mini’
(up to age 11) and ‘Junior’ (12 to 16) age groups in
both clubs and schools. The Player Pathway was
thoroughly reviewed during the 2006/07 season with a
view to making improvements for all players and those
good enough to play for local representative teams. The
main change, to be implemented in season 2007/08 is
the lowering of the age at which “kicking” becomes a
key part of the game to the U13 age group. This is an
excellent example of how the demands of the modern
adult international game are reflected in the long-term
development of young players.

The growth of the game at Youth levels is a continuing
success story. Built on a strategic plan incorporating three
main elements, the number of Youth teams competing in the
National Youth League grew by 7% to 163 teams at the
end of the 2006/07 season. This was a continuation of the

Community Rugby

Darren Humphries, here in action for the Wales Clubs XV in their victory 
over France, is now playing regularly for Premiership champions Neath
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Development Officers in north Wales and those that
work in conjunction with The Prince’s Trust are other
examples of the work to promote social inclusion.     

Child Protection continues to be one of the highest
priorities. Currently the Group is regarded as one of the
leading governing bodies in the world in respect of its
Child Protection policies and systems. This position will
be developed further by the introduction of an online
interactive child protection course and the recruitment of
a Child Protection Officer.

Moving forward the Group still have significant
challenges to face. Demographic trends and changing
social patterns mean that clubs will increasingly be
competing for playing and volunteering resources. The
payment of players within the community game
continues to be a drain on resources that are needed to
be invested in facilities and this is an issue that needs to
be addressed as part of the Community review. Facilities
within many clubs are not conducive to the development
of the game and the Group will be proactively working
with clubs to ensure that they have enough pitches,

changing rooms and adequate showering and toilet
facilities to cater for all who want to participate. The
coming year will also focus upon ensuring that the Group
recruit and retain active volunteers who are at the heart
of the community game. The work done by club
secretaries, committees and volunteers is essential for the
sustainability of the game. The Group will focus upon
providing volunteers with the tools and resources to
effectively and efficiently manage their clubs. The Group
will ensure that clubs and communities are supported to
enable them to increase participation and enjoyment
levels throughout Wales.      

ASDA League Winners 2006 - 2007

Division 1 East Beddau
Division 1 West Bonymaen
Division 2 East Llantrisant
Division 2 West Tonmawr
Division 3 East Penalta
Division 3 West Tumble
Division 3 South East Pencoed
Division 3 South West Mumbles
Division 4 East Garndiffaith
Division 4 West Llanbydder
Division 4 South East Bedlinog
Division 4 South West BP Llandarcy
Division 4 North Mold
Division 5 East Abertillery BG
Division 5 West Tycroes
Division 5 South East Rhiwbina
Division 5 South West Neath Athletic
Division 5 South Central GlynCorrwg
Division 5 North Dolgellau

Worthington’s (WDRU) Districts Cup final
Bryncethin 18 - 28 Blackwood Stars 

Percy Howells Inter-District Cup Final 
Mid Glamorgan 17 - 20 Rhondda and East
District Glamorgan District 

Community Rugby

Ceri Sweeney with members of the 
Caerphilly Youth Inclusion and Support Team
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Womens’ Rugby

It has been another successful year of women’s community
rugby in Wales. On the pitch there have been more
competitions than ever played at senior and junior level. 

Off the pitch, the major priority was working towards the
strategic aim of full integration into the Group; support
for this proposal had previously been obtained from both
the Board and the Executive Board. 

The 2006/07 season saw a continued focus on
women’s and girls’ club rugby in Nicola Smith’s first full
year as the women’s community rugby manager. There
have been new senior sides developed at Neath Athletic,
Whitland, Llandovery, Lampeter University, Bangor
University and Menai Bridge and with Llantwit Major
well on its way to affiliation.  New junior sides have also
been developed at Menai Bridge, Bangor, Merthyr
Tydfil, Seven Sisters, Llantwit Fadre, Cardigan,
Porthcawl, Cynon Valley, Aberystwyth and with
Bethesda and Llantwit Major in the development stages.  

A number of tag and 10s events were held across Wales
throughout the season for school teams with the
invaluable assistance of the Group’s rugby development
officers, community and club coaches.  The real
challenge is to try to ensure that girls introduced to the
sport in school continue to play the game by joining
clubs. School-club links and increasing this percentage
transfer will be a focus area for next season. At the end
of the 2006/07 season the total number of women’s
club players registered was 683, the total of junior girls’
club players was 491 and 1790 girls were introduced to
rugby at school.  

Development days for U14s and U17s have also proved
popular. Girls from schools and clubs were invited to
these events in North and South Wales, with some girls
then being selected for the U17 performance camp and
others going on to represent East, North or West Wales
in the regional competitions.

The development of womens’ and girls’ coaches was a
focus with the first of what will be regular coach
association workshops being held at Caerphilly,
Whitland and Bangor, run by National Squad coaches.
This scheme will continue with front-row clinics a priority
into next year with a focus upon front-row clinics. 
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Referees

The 2006/07 season was another busy period for the
Group’s community referees’ department with over
4,500 appointments made at all levels of the game. This
is a major logistical operation and to that extent the
Group would like to take this opportunity to thank all the
referees and advisors who have given up their time to
benefit the game in Wales over the past season.

As stated within Elite Rugby, the Group has
demonstrated its commitment to the future by opting for
youth when selecting the twenty district level referees to
be invited on the probationary list. Five of the new
probationary list referees are under thirty which is
important if they are to progress to a high standard
during their refereeing career.

However, it must be stressed that elevation to this level is
not based on age alone and the Group is fully aware
that it has an obligation to the whole of the game in
Wales and not just the elite. The Group are in the middle
of a huge recruitment drive to ensure people keep
coming forward at grassroots level. During the past year

some 543 people have taken part in the Level 1 courses;
this is encouraging but a key indicator will be to see how
many of these junior officials go onto the next stage
which is to referee senior rugby at district level. 

The first couple of games of senior rugby can be a very
daunting thought but it’s a question of helping them
through those initial few games and after that it’s about
whether the individual has the commitment and desire to
continue. 

Another area of interest is of female refereeing and a
mentoring system was developed throughout the year to
aid any female wishing to become a referee. This is set
to continue next season. 

Keeping it in the family:

Alun Thomas is a solicitor from Colwyn Bay who has
been refereeing for seventeen seasons. His 20-year old
son Rhys is a medical student in Cardiff and took up
refereeing a year ago after picking up a playing injury.
He has been invited onto the probationary list of
referees. 

Community Rugby

Cardiff Quins in cup final action

Probationary referees

Alun and Rhys Thomas



The union code remained the jewel in the crown of the
Millennium Stadium attracting nearly 500,000 fans to
rugby matches ranging in profile from Wales
internationals, the EDF Energy Cup semi-finals, the
Konica Minolta Cup Final and grassroots matches.

Within that total number of fans will be those who
watched Richard Lewis of Blackwood Stars win the man
of the match trophy when his team took on and beat
Bryncethin in the Welsh Districts Rugby Union cup final in
April. It is matches like those, played on the stadium pitch
and involving players like Richard, which help invigorate
and develop the community game as well as elite rugby.

Going forward, the decision to bring in lighting rigs will
ensure substantial savings on stadium running costs by
allowing the pitches to last longer and reduce the
number of new pitches required across the year.

That in turn will help us realise the ambition of
maximising the use of the stadium with a robust planning
structure which gets the greatest benefit from across the
range of events which can be staged.

While the FA Cup has left its temporary Welsh home, the
resonance of the Millennium Stadium around the world and
the clear and exciting multi-event strategy in place will
ensure a vibrant and successful future for our iconic stadium.

With the new Millennium Stadium Manager Gerry Toms
at the helm working alongside Venue Sales manager
Alex Luff, Communications Manager Laura Wilby and
the new Group Head of Marketing Gwyn Dolphin, the
path ahead is clear and the roar of the crowd will
continue to be a globally recognised symbol of Wales.

While the stadium is clearly a jewel in the crown of the
Group the challenges of the year saw income dip. Other
event income which is defined as events staged at the
Millennium Stadium excluding Wales rugby matches
reduced by 30% to £4.3m during YE07. As explained in
the Financial Review, this was due to the loss of major
football events and the inevitable relocation of that year’s
Heineken Cup final. 

The Group has addressed this by clearly identifying the
need to fairly test the market for all event deals going
forward. This process is already in place.

An economic survey commissioned by the Group has
painted a revealing and dramatic picture of just how
much money the Millennium Stadium generates for
Cardiff and the surrounding area.

That impact is measurable in clear and meaningful
statistics. From 1999 to 2006 it attracted nine million
visitors making it the premier tourist attraction in Wales
by far. That huge number of visitors placed the stadium
in the top ten visitor attractions in the whole of the UK.

The economic impact of the stadium annually in that
period amounted to some £105m  a year and between
1999 and 2006 that figure topped £735m. Some 85%
of this money stays or is spent in the Cardiff area.

Spending at that level can support some 2,400 full time
jobs a year.
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Even the closure of the gigantic metal roof cannot stop
the roar of the Millennium Stadium being heard around
the World.

Last April, millions of television viewers throughout the
USA heard it live and loud when the Welsh world
champion boxer Joe Calzaghe beat his American rival
Peter Manfredo Jnr in Round Three.

It thundered across the southern hemisphere for rugby
internationals when Wales took on the might of  New
Zealand, Australia and the Pacific Islands.

Then it resounded to the voices of Madonna, The Rolling
Stones and Take That in concerts cheered on by adoring fans.

Internationally renowned promoter Phil Bowdery, vice
president of Touring Europe Live Nation, said, “The
Millennium Stadium is the best covered venue that I have
ever worked in and, from my point of view, among the
top three venues in the world.”

So it is far more than a magnificent building which is
recognisable worldwide as an iconic image which helps
define our nation through rugby.

In YE07, the stadium consolidated its status as a multi-
event venue which boasts unique attributes.

Those are the closing roof, the removable pitch and the
city centre location which combine to ensure any event
will go ahead whatever the weather. The variety of those
events is potentially huge and any visitor will have
access to the full Cardiff experience with easy access to
its restaurants, bars, shops and attractions.

During the year more than 200,000 music fans arrived in
Cardiff to watch Millennium Stadium concerts which,
based upon research commissioned by the Group,
generated millions of pounds for the South Wales economy.

Fans of motor sport returned to the stadium for the
Speedway Grand Prix and then the Wales Rally GB which
again proved to be successful and popular events now
firmly associated with Cardiff and the Millennium Stadium. 

The stadium again played host to international soccer
with Wales attracting tens of thousands of supporters
although completion of the Wembley Stadium in London
meant that the expected departure of the FA Cup Final
finally arrived. The Group wish the FA and the wider
world of soccer good luck with their new home and
thank them for their continued friendship in sport.

During the year, the floor to ceiling drape concept
became even more of a unique selling point and came
into its own at concerts such as The Eagles and for the
April Joe Calzaghe fight which was beamed live on TV
screens across the world from a packed arena
appearing like a made-to-measure studio. 

It is important to remember that religious events,
conferences and business exhibitions all took place
during the financial year and provide a signpost to the
variety of visitor the stadium attracts.

And then there was the rugby. Of course that includes
Rugby League which enriched Cardiff with the familiar
accents of the north of England on Millennium Magic
Weekend and attracted more than 50,000 visitors.

Millennium Stadium

Boxing at the Millennium Stadium

Lee Evans - Head Groundsman

Gerry Toms
Millennium Stadium Manager



New ideas have been introduced such as Millennium
Stadium Club 200 to complement the existing offerings,
and will continue to investigate flexible solutions to meet
the varied customer requirements.

The Group welcomed new partners to the Millennium
Stadium in the shape of Wolf Blass wines on a four-year
relationship delivering a central product supply and
funding.  Additionally, Real Crisps and Peters Foods
joined the partner family with significant contributions.
Furthermore, the introduction of The Times and The
Sunday Times newspapers as new partners helped to
deliver funding, and a stronger advertising platform,
outside Wales.

With the increasing success of the Wales Sevens squad,
the Group was pleased to welcome International Business
Wales as main sponsor. The Sevens squad will now
contest all rounds of the IRB Sevens series in 2007/08,
playing a key role in taking Wales to the world.

The success of the Group’s relationships with key
sponsors continued throughout the year. Main team
partner and official ale supplier Brains extensively
leveraged its relationship throughout Wales, whilst the
Invesco Perpetual Autumn Series produced a month of
high-quality exciting games against Australia, New
Zealand, the Pacific Islanders and Canada.

BBC and S4C continued as the key TV broadcast
partners, with games involving Wales continuing to
achieve some of the strongest national viewer ratings in
the highly competitive TV market. Coverage extended to
include games from the Principality Premiership, the
Konica Minolta Cup, international age grade matches
and highlights of international women’s matches and
Regional Reebok Championship games. 

It is commercial relationships like these with companies
like Brains and the broadcasters which help enhance the
Group’s brand and profile, not just in Wales but around
the world wherever Welsh rugby is watched and followed.

Overall, the development of the commercial programme
saw an increase in the Group’s sponsor partners to 34
companies in the 2006/07 season.

Away from the pitch, the retail and licensing operations
again reported strong performances. The Group sold an
impressive 180,000 Reebok rugby shirts. A strong roster
of official licensed partners also helped to contribute in
a major way, and future expansion of this area is one of
the priority objectives.
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The year once again proved to be strong, from a
commercial perspective, with commercial revenues
increasing by 5% to £8.4m and will help to act as a
springboard to further growth. To this end, this year
marked the introduction of Webb Ellis as ball supplier,
making the Group the only Home Union throughout
World Rugby to supply balls free of charge to member
clubs.  More than 9,000 balls were distributed to the
community game in the 2006/07 season.

In addition, other Group partners contributed
significantly to the sport, for instance, the RAF with
festivals throughout Wales that attracted record
attendance figures. Further support for the Principality
Premiership came from Rhino, Prince’s Gate water and

Powerade, all of whom have delivered support by
supplying products for all 14 participating teams.

The first season of the official WRU Supporters Club has
started in an encouraging fashion. Greater
understanding of the requirements of the Group’s fan
base is high on the agenda for the coming year, with
significant research and Customer Relationship
Management programmes already underway.

The Group is continually seeking to provide new and
innovative solutions for corporate hospitality users.
Revenues remained strong and consistent, with the best
performance seen in the Wales v England RBS Six
Nations game, which set new records in hospitality sales.

Commercial Operations

Invesco Perpetual Trophy shared

Team building at an RAF camp

Principality ball and trophy

Gwyn Dolphin
Head of Marketing



2006/07 has been a busy period for Group Operations.
With the reorganisation within the Group as a result of the
appointment of Roger Lewis, the Operations Department
has executive responsibility for Community Rugby, Human
Resources (“HR”), Information Technology (“IT”), Policy
Development and Charitable Trusts. The Community game
is documented separately within this review.

The Group has continued to develop HR procedures and
support mechanisms to enable the Group’s core asset,
the staff, to operate to their full potential. The  Employee
Handbook has been updated after consultation with the
staff and core benefits and terms and conditions have
been aligned across the Group. Group Operations
managed the recruitment of the Group Chief Executive
as well as all other staff appointments during the year.
Staff turnover remains extremely low, with average
length of service in excess of five years. A series of staff
briefings has been initiated during the year to ensure that
all staff are kept up to date with all relevant issues. The
core benefits package within the business has been
reviewed and recommendations from this will be
implemented during the coming financial year.

The Group has continued to develop a series of IT based
initiatives to enable the business to operate effectively and
efficiently. The Voice over Internet Protocol (“VOIP”)
project is now functional and will enable a significant

increase in operational flexibility across the Group. The
Group has developed a web based system that will
reduce significantly the cost and environmental impact of
the traditional postal communications with the Group’s
member clubs. This will be extensively trialled in the
coming year. IT equipment continues to be upgraded
across the Group, with a three year replacement cycle for
all hardware now in place. There has been significant
investment in IT support to the National Squad focused on
leading edge analytical hardware and software and the
Group is already reaping the benefits of this investment.

The Group has continued to develop strategic partnerships
with the Welsh Assembly Government and key
stakeholders. Increasingly, these partnerships are based
upon alignment of key themes and implementation of
sustainable delivery mechanisms. Rugby throughout Wales
can already demonstrate significant impact in Corporate
Social Responsibility (“CSR”) and this is a theme that will be
developed further in the coming financial year. The Group
has conducted a detailed economic benefits report into the
impact of the Millennium Stadium on Cardiff and Wales
that demonstrates the fundamental importance of the
Stadium to the economic wellbeing of the area. The Group
will continue to develop partnerships that deliver benefit not
only to the Group’s key stakeholders but to the wider
community. Central to this will be a detailed CSR document,
including environmental targets that will be implemented in
the coming year.

The Group has continued to support the Millennium
Stadium Charitable Trust, with a total of over £2 million
contributed since the Trust’s inception. In addition, the
Group contributed significantly to the NSPCC’s “Full
Stop” campaign. The Group has continued to support the
work of the Wooden Spoon Society as well as a number
of other rugby related charities; some £83,000 was
contributed to the Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust. The
Group is currently reviewing how to optimise its
charitable activity moving forward and will be making
formal recommendations to the Board in the coming year.
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Ticketing

More than one million tickets were printed and
distributed for events staged at the Millennium Stadium
during YE07.

The Group has undergone its first major period of review
and change since 1999, ensuring the Stadium’s ticketing
operation is capable of delivering a streamlined and
flexible service across all types of event. 
• The in-house Stadium ticketing system has undergone

a software upgrade with the Rolling Stones concert
being the last event delivered on the old system. This
system ensures the Stadium is able to deliver complete
ticketing solutions for all events 

• In response to the variety of events that the Stadium is
geared to deliver, the Ticketing Department has
evolved and undergone a process of internal
restructuring, creating separate divisions for Sports
and Music & Entertainment, managed by Gareth
Davies and Tina Williamson respectively.  Both will
ensure a professional and efficient delivery of the
ticket operation across all types of event

The Group can now deliver a dedicated, tailor-made
service to all events that are attracted by our must-play,
must-visit venue.

Debentures

In late 2006, the Group sold its last available debenture
seats at the Millennium Stadium, generating some £1.4
million for the business.  

The Group now has some 20,000 debenture seats within
the Stadium, across 8,000 individual debenture holders
and, during 2006, the move to electronic communications
through our debenture office commenced.

The Group has also been successful in securing access to
tickets for high profile events at the Millennium Stadium for
our debenture holders. During YE07 the Group offered the
debenture holders the opportunity to see the likes of Take
That, The Eagles, Madonna and The Rolling Stones and
going forward, the Group will now concentrate on adding
further value for the debenture holders, all of whom have
directly invested in the business.

Compliance
This was the second year of the audit and assessment
process in respect of the criteria for facilities and
management structures at clubs wanting to join or remain
in the Premiership. Towards the end of the season the
rules and procedures were challenged. Although the vast
majority of clubs welcomed the process which resulted in
major investment, in both time and monies, in clubs
within the Premiership and the First Divisions, the winners
of Division 1 East and West challenged the rules and
process in a move which eventually led to an EGM.  

The process now enters the third and final year under the
current criteria.  Beyond this year, future seasons’ criteria
will be determined through a detailed consultancy
process involving a panel with representation from both
the Premiership and the First Divisions.

Compliance and Ticketing OperationsJulie Paterson
Head of Compliance

Tim Burton
Head of Operations



Key performance indicators

The KPI’s of the Group are the:

• Success of the National Squad

• Number of and attendances at international rugby
matches, featuring the National Team, held at the
Millennium Stadium

• Performance of the Group’s four Regions

• Performance of the Age-Grade teams

• Development of the elite player talent within the
Premiership

• Participation levels in Community Rugby, including
women and junior numbers

• Number and quality of events held at the Millennium
Stadium excluding international rugby matches
featuring the National Team and

• Financial performance

Business risk
The Group feels that the principal risks facing the
business would include:

• The performance of the National Team
• The identification, nurturing, development and

retention of Welsh players, coaches and officials
alongside appropriate elite systems and structures

• The sustainability of the Four Regions
• The future of the 4 Rugby Academies (talent

development) post May 2008 when European
Objective monies cease

• The extent of involvement and enjoyment in
recreational, grass roots, community rugby

• The identification and securing of non-rugby related
events and activities to the Millennium Stadium  

• The alignment of our commercial strategies with our
rugby and stadium strategies 

• The physical security and insurance of our main
assets, primarily the Millennium Stadium, and

• The implementation of appropriate business systems
and controls covering financial management,
commercial operations and other key business areas

All the above risks have been adequately assessed and
are in varying stages of being addressed.
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A revolution in the demands for information and how it
is processed has been reflected through the year in a
restructuring of the Group’s communication operation.

New media technologies and their adaptation and use
within the traditional media combine to increase the demand
and opportunity for spreading the Group’s key messages.

During the year a website redesign has been underway
to modernise the site, improve and refocus content and
create a facility which can grow and change on demand
in future on the Group’s sites. 

As part of the redesign, a new audio strand was
introduced which included a weekly podcast alongside
special broadcast quality stand-alone interviews with
players, coaches and administrators.

The website changes include a major overhaul of
historical and match data and information about the
game and its administration in Wales.

These changes are helping to deliver a new audience to
the world of rugby in Wales while supplying these
potential followers of the game with all the relevant
information they need.

This redesign project was led by Website and Graphics
Manager Roland Mercer and Website Editor Laura
Chamberlain who, during the year, transferred into the
restructured communications team.

Priorities for the department include website
development and use, media relations, elite and
community rugby, stakeholder relationships and internal
communications.

A regular dialogue is being maintained with all media
partners to ensure the sharing of information and access
to players, coaches and administrators is maintained
and developed.

Sharp media focus on the National Squad and the Head
Coach remained an issue which required a regular and
focused dialogue with journalists and senior editorial staff.

The appointment of a dedicated rugby correspondent by
the Daily Post newspaper has been a welcome
development for coverage of the game in North Wales and
he is liaising closely with the North Wales Rugby Council
and the communications team to help fulfil his brief.

Broadcast projects approved included Rugby – Poetry In
Motion and Gareth Jenkins – Into the Fire for BBC Wales
and the behind-the-scenes coverage of the Rugby World
Cup Squad for S4C.

At the core of the communications team are WRU
Communications Manager Liz Jones and Millennium
Stadium Communications Manager Laura Wilby who
play major roles in outlining the operational and strategy
direction of the communications effort.

Laura Wilby played a key role through the year in
planning behind-the-scenes media event organisation for
the Rugby World Cup 2007 pool games and quarter
final at the Millennium Stadium.

Throughout the year Liz Jones supplemented her core
role and managed the editorial  preparation of more
than twenty WRU associated publications and
programmes which combined to reach an audience of
more than a half a million readers.

Going forward the communications team will also be
focusing on Welsh language policy to ensure the Group
reflects its importance and value  our administration and
publications.

Now the focus will be to continually review the
communications operation, focus on the identified priorities
and maintain a proactive involvement in the changing
demands of the media and associated new technologies.

It is also vital to note that the communications team is
anxious to provide a sounding board of advice for all
clubs, supporters and players in Welsh rugby so that all
opportunities to share the message of the development of
the game in Wales are seized.

Communications Key Performance Indicators
and Business Risks

The Jewel in the Crown

John Williams
Head of Communications
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Performance

Overview 

The Group’s business model is straightforward; the
Group generates income from its international matches
(including sponsorship and broadcast rights) and
incremental revenue from the use of the stadium. This
income meets the operating costs of the Group to allow
the majority of the surplus to be “invested” in “Welsh
Rugby”, as follows:

2007 2006
£’m £’m

Group income 43.8 46.1
Business and administration (5.3) (5.1)
Direct costs (9.2) (9.0)
Stadium costs (4.3) (4.2)
Surplus 25.0 27.8

The Group earns some £43.8m (2006: £46.1m)
predominantly from international rugby matches staged
at the Group’s Millennium Stadium.  These matches drive
the Group’s match income and commercial income
which collectively amount to 74% (2006: 73%) of the
Group’s income. The other two major income streams,
not from staging international rugby matches, arise from
competition income and other events. These represent
the income from competitions including the Heineken
Cup, the EDF Energy Cup and the Magners League and
non-National Team rugby events staged at the
Millennium Stadium ranging from pop concerts to
football respectively.  These two forms of income amount
to some 21% (2006: 21%) of the Group’s income.

The business and administration costs represent the costs
of managing the Group; the direct costs represent the
costs of staging both international rugby matches and
other events held at the stadium, and the stadium costs
represent the costs of managing the stadium other than
those directly attributable to events.

The surplus of £25.0 million (2006 £27.8 million)
generated by the Group which is invested in “Welsh
Rugby” can be analysed as follows:

£’m £’m

Operational costs
- Elite Rugby 2.2 2.2
- Community Rugby 1.7 1.7

3.9 3.9 

Allocations to affiliates 
- Regions (Professional) 11.0 8.3
- Clubs (Semi-professional) 1.0 0.8
- Community Rugby 2.9 2.7

14.9 11.8 

Total investment in “Welsh Rugby” 18.8 15.7 

The balance is analysed as follows:

Surplus 25.0 27.8
Total investment in “Welsh Rugby” (18.8) (15.7) 

6.2 12.1

Deprecation (net of grants) 2.4 2.1
Exceptional items (see Note 4) 3.3 1.9
Interest costs 2.8 2.9
Tax (0.2) (2.2)
Transferred (from)/to income (2.1) 3.0

6.2 12.1 

The allocations to the four Regions have increased by
32% to £11.0m which includes the competition income
referred to above, covers all international player release,
and is aimed at achieving sustainability for the four
Regions. This increase also includes an 89% direct
increase from the Group to the regions to £3.4m and a
40% increase arising from the continued success of the
competitions in which the Group’s  regions participate.

The allocations to the Group’s semi-professional league
have increased by 25% to £1.0m and the allocations to the
Group’s community clubs have increased by 7% to £2.9m.

On a pre-exceptional basis, the Group generated an
operating profit of £3.8m (2006: £10.0m) from which
debt service of £2.8m (2006: £2.9m) is deducted
resulting in a profit before tax of £1.0m (2006: £7.1m).
As detailed later, the Group did incur exceptional items
in YE07 of £3.3m (2006: £1.9m), resulting in a loss
before tax of £2.3m (2006: profit £5.2m).

Revenues

Overall the Group’s income decreased by £1.5m in
YE07 from last year; when excluding the non-recurring
income from the Lions Surplus in 2006, this represents a
3% reduction. Match income decreased by £1.6m
predominantly as a result of staging only two home Six
Nations matches, but offset by improved broadcasting
income. Competition income increased by 40% to £4.7m
as a result of the continued success of various
competitions, particularly the Heineken Cup, in which the
Group’s Four Regions participate. Commercial income
increased by 5% to £8.4m due, in the main, to improved
sponsorship performance. Other event income decreased
by 30% to £4.3m; this was mainly as a result of fewer
football matches (such as the FA Cup Final and the Play-
Offs) and the hosting of the Heineken Cup Final in 2006.

Operational costs

As shown in Note 2, given a 2% increase, the Group’s
operational costs at £22.7m have remained comparable
in YE07 to last year, despite an increase in pre-
exceptional staff costs of 16% to £5.9m.  
Business and administration costs have increased by
£0.2m (4%) to £5.3m. This includes an increase of staff
costs of £0.4m and is evidence that the Group’s staff are
reducing external costs from the business.
Direct costs have remained comparable, but this is
despite fewer events being staged at the Millennium
Stadium; this is due to the costs of travelling to away
matches and further investment in the National Squad.
The costs in respect of elite rugby are the same as last
year and include managing the age-grade structures,
player development and referee costs which amount to
some 56% (2006: 59%) of the total with the balance of
44% (2006: 41%) comprising staff costs, including the
staff costs of the academy structures.
The costs in respect of community rugby are comparable
to last year and include coach development and referee
costs which amount to some 33% (2006: 40%) of the
total with the balance of 67% (2006: 60%) comprising
staff costs, including the district development officers. 
Stadium costs have slightly increased by 5% to £4.3m
and include nearly £1.0m and some £0.3m, in both
years, for rates and insurance respectively.
As shown in Note 5, pre-exceptional staff costs have
increased by £0.8m. These staff costs are included
within the cost categories shown in Note 2 and the
primary increases, by cost category, are as follows:

£’m

Business & administration 0.4
Direct 0.2
Other 0.2

0.8

Business and administration and direct costs have
increased due to additional staff working within the
commercial areas of the business and the National Team
management respectively.
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Operating and Financial Review
Financial Review (continued)

Exceptional costs

The Group incurred some £3.3m of exceptional costs
including some £0.3m of accelerated depreciation. The
Group’s definition of exceptional includes the
identification of significant non-recurring items which
enable the “normal” financial performance of the Group
to be better understood. As shown in Note 4, there were
re-organisation costs representing some roles within the
Group becoming redundant with a new management
team in place, there were litigation costs which were
settled during the year and some items on the balance
sheet that required “cleaning up” which had been around
for some time. The analysis of these costs, excluding the
depreciation is as follows:

2007 2006
£’m £.m

Reorganisation costs 0.4 0.3
Litigation costs 0.7 1.6
Increased provision for slow 0.1 -
moving stock
Increased provision for doubtful 1.8 -
debts & similar adjustments

3.0 1.9

EBITDA and net result

One of the key measures of the Group is the earnings
before depreciation, interest, tax, depreciation,
exceptional items and allocation to affiliates (“EBITDA”).
This is a key measure as it is the best proxy for cash
generated from the Group’s operational activities. This
provides the cash to fund the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Group’s EBITDA was some £21.1m (2006: £23.9m)
which allowed the Group’s allocation policy to continue.
Post EBITDA, after reflecting debt service and
depreciation the Group’s profit before tax is £1.0m; after
exceptional items, the Group had a loss before tax of
£2.3m. This can be analysed as follows:

2007 2006
£’m £’m

Company 18.0 18.6
MS 3.1 5.3
Group EBITDA 21.1 23.9

Allocations to affiliated organisations(14.9) (11.8)
Exceptional items (3.3) (1.9)
Depreciation (net of grant release) (2.4) (2.1)

Operating profit 0.5 8.1
Net interest (2.8) (2.9)
(Loss)/profit before tax (2.3) (5.2)
Tax 0.2 (2.2)
(Loss)/profit after tax (2.1) 3.0

Cashflow

The Group’s EBITDA, post non-cash exceptional items, was
£18.1m (2006: £22.0m) and as set out in Note 23, after
working capital movements of £1.9m (2006: £3.7m) this
resulted in cash generated from commercial activities of
£16.2m (2006: £18.3m). From this, the Group funded the
allocations to affiliated organisations of £14.9m (2006:
£11.8m) leaving £1.3m (2006: £6.5m).

From this amount in YE07, the Group paid net interest
costs of £2.8m, paid corporation tax of £0.2m, acquired
fixed assets of £0.3m, received the final element of the
original Millennium Commission grant of £0.7m, received
proceeds from the release of further debentures of £1.4m
leaving a net cash increase of £0.1m.

Balance sheet and reserves

Prior year adjustments
As a result of the review outlined in the Group Chief
Executive’s Overview and the exceptional items already
mentioned, the Group had cause to revisit some of the
accounting policies previously adopted. The impact of
changes in accounting policy are clearly set out in Note
19 but the policy changes as shown in Note 1 can be
summarised as follows:

• Outbound tours
In accordance with the arrangements between the
Group and the International Rugby Board (“IRB”), the
Group has now clearly set out the policy that any tour
that occurs in May/June of any year is to be recognised
in the year ended that same May. In effect, this re-affirms
the position that such a tour is an end of season tour and
not a pre-season tour; this is the more prudent approach
and recognises that the liability is committed.  

• Pension costs – FRS17
Whilst the Group has previously adopted FRS17, the
Group has reviewed some of the entries previously
made and have amended where it was felt
appropriate to do so.

• Deferred tax – FRS19
The Group concluded that it was no longer
appropriate to discount any deferred tax liability as it
was more common in the business sector not to do so. 

• FRS 25 – “financial instruments: presentation”
In the prior year, certain “long life” liabilities were
classified as “quasi-equity” for the purpose of balance
sheet presentation.  These have now been classified as
long term liabilities in accordance with FRS25.

• Capital grants
Previously, contributions received in respect of certain
construction costs have been deducted from fixed assets.
These have been restated in order to show the gross cost
of the fixed assets and a corresponding amount has been
included in accruals and deferred income.



Operating and Financial Review
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As a result of examining the deferred tax entries
previously made, it became clear that the balances in
2006 contained errors in both the disclosure and
calculations. The extent to which the prior year adjustment
can be analysed between a policy change and an error
is limited by the nature and uncertainties relating to the
calculation. The gross deferred tax, prior to discount was
included in the 2006 accounts at being a liability of
£1.6m; this has been amended to show a gross liability
of £5.1m. It is not possible to determine the impact on the
discount that would have applied to this gross liability
without undue cost.

The collective impact of all the above changes resulted in
the opening reserves as at 31 May 2006 reducing by
£4.2m to £6.6m.  The Group produced a loss after tax of
£2.1m which together with an actuarial gain of £0.1m
left the closing reserves as at 31 May 2007 at £4.6m.

In terms of the specific balance sheet categories, post the
change in accounting policy, tangible fixed assets
reduced by some £3.7m due to a depreciation charge of
£4.0m offset by capital expenditure of £0.3m.

Positive working capital balances have remained
somewhat flat and the Group has a net current asset
position of £1.2m which is an improvement of £1.4m
from last year, as a result of a decrease in trade creditors
and accruals sitting within creditors due within one year.

Creditors due after one year have increased by some
£1.5m due to the debenture issue and accruals and
deferred income have decreased by £1.5m due mainly to
the grant release of £1.2m.  All deferred tax balances,
included within provisions for liabilities and charges, have
been restated from the prior year as explained above.

Net debt

Net debt, which is defined as bank loans, debenture
loans and hire purchase agreements less cash balances,
as at 31 May 2007 was £86.5m (2006: £85.2m). The
increase arises due to the issue of further debentures
during YE07 for £1.4m.

Net bank debt, which is bank loans less cash balances,
was £49.2m (2006: £49.3m). Included within these
amounts is some £10.0m which is repayable only in the
event of certain defined events occurring. 

Auditors 

During the year, the Group conducted a tender of its audit
services. PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) were selected
to be appointed and, with the current auditors not seeking
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, a motion to appoint PwC will be put before the
Group’s members at that meeting. Subject to the
members’ approval, the Group look forward to working
with PwC in the future.

T H E W E L S H  R U G B Y  U N I O N  L I M I T E D  -  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 2 0 0 7 43



The Directors confirm that suitable accounting policies
have been used and applied consistently in the
preparation of the financial statements. They also
confirm that reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates have been made in preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 May 2007 and that
applicable accounting standards have been followed.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.

Audit information statement
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware and the Directors have taken all the steps
necessary to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to convey that information to the
Company’s auditors.

Going concern
The Directors believe that the Company and the Group
have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and it therefore
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

Auditors
Walter Hunter & Co Limited have indicated that they will
not seek re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. The Directors will propose that
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be appointed as auditors
and a resolution to appoint them will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 28
October 2007.

Financial risk factors
The Group is exposed to financial risks from interest
bearing assets and debt instruments and an interest in
overseas companies. These expose the Group to
financial risks including foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

• Foreign exchange risk
The Group has no material foreign exchange risk.

• Interest rate risk
The Group has interest bearing liabilities. As shown in
Note 15, the Group’s policy is to hedge against an
interest risk on liabilities by either borrowing in a fixed
interest rate or using derivative instruments to
effectively hedge the interest rate risk. The Group has
interest bearing assets which are invested at differing
interest rates; these interest rates are fixed at the outset
of the investment.

• Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group has implemented policies that require
appropriate credit checks on potential credit customers
before sales commence. Interest bearing assets are
only invested with financial institutions that have
excellent credit ratings.

• Liquidity risk
The Group maintains a balance between continuity of
funding and flexiblity. As at 31 May 2007, only 2% of
the borrowings were due to expire within five years.

By Order of the Board

M Jefferies
Secretary

2 October 2007
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Principal activity and review of the business
The principal activity of the Group is to promote, foster,
encourage, control and improve rugby football
throughout Wales. This activity and the likely future
development of the Group are reviewed in the
Chairman’s Statement, the Group Chief Executive’s
Review and the Operating and Financial Review.

Results for the year
The results for the year are set out in the consolidated
profit and loss account on page 46 and show a profit
before exceptional items and tax of £1.0m (2006: profit
- £7.1m) and a loss before tax of £2.3m (2006: profit -
£5.2m).

Directors
The directors who held office during the year are noted
on page 72.

Donations
The Group’s primary charitable donation was £83,000
(2006:£100,000) to the Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust.
This trust, which is independent from the Group, was set
up to provide support to players who were injured whilst
playing rugby in Wales.

Policy on payment to creditors
The Group’s policy concerning the payment of the
majority of its trade creditors is to:

• settle the terms of payment with those suppliers when
agreeing the terms of each transaction

• ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the
terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant terms in
contracts

• pay in accordance with its contractual and other legal
obligations

Corporate social responsibility
The Group recognises its responsibility to the communities
which are affected by its businesses and continually
reviews its policies with regard to social, ethical and
environmental matters. Any matters in any of these
categories which may materially affect the business of the
Group are reviewed periodically by the Board.

Employment of disabled persons
The Group’s policy for the employment of disabled
persons gives full and fair consideration to all
applications for employment made by such persons,
having regard to their aptitudes and abilities and to the
Group’s operational requirements. Once employed, a
career plan is developed so as to ensure suitable
opportunities for each disabled person. Arrangements
are made, where possible, for retraining employees who
become disabled, to enable them to perform work
identified as appropriate to their aptitudes and abilities
in line with the Group’s operational requirements.

Employee involvement
During the year, regular consultations and briefings took
place with employees to increase their knowledge and
understanding of the Group’s performance and the
financial and economic factors which affect it, and to
enable the Group to take into account the views of the
employees when making decisions likely to affect
employees’ interests. The interests of employees in the
defined benefit pension schemes were represented in the
year by the trustees of those schemes.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year that give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that
period. The Directors are required to prepare the
financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it
is inappropriate to presume that the Company and
Group will continue in business.

The directors present their report and the Group’s
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 May 2007.

Mike Jefferies
Head of Legal Affairs



Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total Restated
(see below)

2007 2007 2007 2006
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 2(a) 43,778 - 43,778 46,097

Costs 2(b) (39,992) (3,296) (43,288) (37,978)

Operating profit before depreciation, 21,097 - 21,097 23,935
exceptional items and allocations to affiliated
organisations (“EBITDA”)

Allocations to affiliated organisations 2(d) (14,941) - (14,941) (11,815)

Exceptional items 4 - (2,966) (2,966) (1,859)

Depreciation (net of grant release) 4 (2,370) (330) (2,700) (2,142)

Operating profit 2 3,786 (3,296) 490 8,119

Net interest payable 3 (2,825) (2,871)

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (2,335) 5,248

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 6 245 (2,239)

Retained (loss)/profit for the financial year 19 (2,090) 3,009

The turnover and operating profit shown above are derived from continuing operations. There are no recognised gains and losses other
than those shown above and the net actuarial gain on the pension scheme as disclosed in the consolidated statement of total recognised
gains and losses on page 49.

Certain comparative balances have been restated as the Directors believe that the revised presentation gives a better understanding of
the accounts. In addition, where changes in policy and presentation have affected the results, the impact is shown in Note 19.

The notes on pages 50 to 70 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated profit and loss account for the year ended 31 May 2007
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Restated Restated

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 142,536 146,204 39,112 39,230
Investments 9 - - 50 50

142,536 146,204 39,162 39,280
Current assets
Stock 10 270 288 270 288
Debtors 11 9,311 9,015 5,967 7,708
Cash at bank and in hand 13 5,832 5,752 5,923 4,858

15,413 15,055 12,160 12,854
Current liabilities
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 14 (14,186) (15,193) (7,201) (7,692)

Net current assets/(liabilities) 1,227 (138) 4,959 5,162

Total assets less current liabilities 143,763 146,066 44,121 44,442

Creditors – amounts falling due after more than 14 (92,175) (90,664) (37,325) (35,924)
one year
Accruals and deferred income 16 (42,369) (43,866) - -
Provisions for liabilities and charges 17 (4,857) (5,102) - -

Net assets excluding pension assets 4,362 6,434 6,796 8,518

Pension assets 12 202 116 202 116

Net assets including pension assets 4,564 6,550 6,998 8,634

Capital and reserves
Other reserves 19 2,314 2,314 2,610 2,610
Profit and loss account 19 2,250 4,236 4,388 6,024
Capital employed 4,564 6,550 6,998 8,634

Certain comparative balances have been restated as the Directors believe that the revised presentation gives a better understanding of
the accounts. In addition, where changes in policy and presentation have affected the results, the impact is shown in Note 19.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 October 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Roger Lewis
Group Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 50 to 70 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheets at 31 May 2007



Restated

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (2,090) 3,009

Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension scheme 134 (34)
Movement in deferred tax on pension scheme (30) 10

Net effect of pension schemes 104 (24)

Total net (losses)/gain for the year (1,986) 2,985

Prior year adjustments – Note 19 - (4,189)

Total losses recognised in the year (1,986) (1,204)

Reconciliation of movement in consolidated capital and reserves
As previously stated Prior year Balance

adjustments restated
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 June 2005 7,048 (3,483) 3,565

Profit for the year ended 31 May 2006 3,525 (516) 3,009

Actuarial gain on pension fund 166 (200) (34)

Movement in deferred tax on pension fund - 10 10

At 31 May 2006 10,739 (4,189) 6,550

Loss for the year ended 31 May 2007 (2,090)

Actuarial gain on pension fund 134

Movement in deferred tax on pension fund (30)

At 31 May 2007 4,564

The prior year adjustments are shown in Note 19.
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Restated Restated

2007 2007 2006 2006
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 23 1,294 6,541

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 140 90
Interest paid (2,906) (2,978)
Interest element of finance lease and hire purchase - (18)
repayments

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and (2,766) (2,906)
servicing of finance

Tax (225) -

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Additions to tangible fixed assets (284) (619)
Grant received 699 -
Sale of tangible fixed assets - 1,375

Net cash inflow for capital expenditure and 415 756
financial investment

Financing
Debentures issued 1,401 1,026
Drawdown of bank loans 170 -
Repayment of bank loans (209) (175)
Capital element of finance lease and hire purchase - (100)
repayments

Net cash inflow in respect of financing 1,362 751

Increase in net cash in the year 24 80 5,142

The notes on pages 50 to 70 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 May 2007 Consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses 
for the year ended 31 May 2007
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Leasehold buildings are depreciated over the lower of 50 years and the remaining life of the lease.

4) Leased assets
Where the Group enters into a lease which entails taking substantially all the risks and rewards of an asset, the lease is treated as a
“finance lease”. The present value of the minimum lease payments is recorded in the balance sheet as a tangible fixed asset. Future
instalments under such leases, net of finance charges, are included within creditors. Rentals payable are apportioned between the finance
element, which is charged to the profit and loss account, and the capital element which reduces the outstanding finance lease liability.

All other leases are accounted for as “operating leases” and the rentals charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis
over the life of the lease.

5) Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are included at cost less any provision for impairment.

6) Trade investments
Trade investments are valued at cost less any provision for impairment.

7) Stock
Stock is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

8) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided in full on all material timing differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised where their recovery is considered
more likely than not. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have not been discounted.

9) Pension costs
The Group operates defined contribution schemes and a defined benefit pension scheme.

The pension costs in respect of the defined contribution pension schemes comprise contributions payable in respect of the year.

The assets of the defined benefit scheme are measured using closing market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using
the projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency
to the liability. The increase in the present value of the liabilities of the defined benefit scheme expected to arise from employee service
in the period is charged to operating profit. The expected return on the scheme assets and the increase during the period in the present
value of the scheme’s liabilities, arising from the passage of time, are included in net interest payable.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

10) Grants
Grants receivable in respect of tangible fixed assets are credited to the profit and loss account over the expected useful economic
lives of the relevant assets to which they relate. Grants received but not yet released to the profit and loss account are included as
deferred income in the balance sheet.

Revenue grants are released to the profit and loss account in the same period as the related expense.

11) Capitalisation of interest
Interest is capitalised on major development projects and capital works in progress where appropriate. Capitalisation ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to get the asset ready for use are completed.

12) Financial instruments
A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging purposes when it alters the risk profile of an existing underlying exposure
of the Group. The derivative instruments utilised by the Group are interest rate swaps. Interest differentials on interest rate swaps are
recognised by adjusting the net interest charge.
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1. Accounting policies

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and applicable Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The Group’s accounting policies which have been applied consistently are set out
below, together with an explanation of where changes have been made to previous policies as follows:

a) Outbound tours
The Group has decided to adopt the policy that all turnover and costs should, as best as the Group are able, be attributed to the rugby
season to which the turnover and costs relate. This has resulted in the adoption of the policy that a tour that occurs in May or June of any
year should relate to both the season and the year just ended on 31 May, on the basis that the liability has been committed.

b) FRS17 – “retirement benefits”
FRS 17 requires the assets of defined benefit pension schemes to be measured at market value at each balance sheet date and the
liabilities to be measured using a specific valuation method and to be discounted using a corporate bond rate with any resulting
pension scheme surplus or deficit to be recognised immediately on the balance sheet and any resulting gains and losses to be
recognised immediately in the statement of total recognised gains and losses rather than being recognised gradually in the profit and
loss account. Whilst the Group adopted FRS17 last year, the Group has decided to revisit the amounts posted together with any
deferred tax asset/liability.

c) FRS 25 – “financial instruments: presentation”
In the prior year, certain “long life” liabilities were classified as “quasi-equity” for the purpose of balance sheet presentation. These
have now been classified as long term liabilities in accordance with FRS25.

d) Capital grants
Previously contributions received in respect of certain construction costs have been deducted from fixed assets. These have been
restated in order to show the gross cost of the fixed assets and a corresponding amount has been included in accruals and deferred
income.

e)  FRS 19 – “deferred tax”
FRS19 requires deferred tax to be provided in full on all material timing differences between the recognition of gains and losses in
the financial statements and their recognition for tax purposes where future payment or receipt is more likely than not to occur. In the
past, the Group had discounted any deferred tax liability as permitted under FRS19. The Group has decided not to discount as this
allows a better understanding of the financial statements and is more consistent with the approach adopted within the business sector.

The effect of all these changes is disclosed in Note 19.

1) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited and its subsidiaries,
Millennium Stadium plc and WRU Supporters Club Limited, all of which are made up to 31 May 2007.

2) Turnover
Turnover represents amounts invoiced, excluding value added tax, in respect of the sale of goods and services. Ticket income, sale
of hospitality packages, competition income and other event income are recognised as revenue when the related event is staged.
Revenue determined by commercial contracts, which makes up the majority of broadcasting revenue, sponsorship and royalty revenue
and lease of hospitality boxes is recognised based on the relevant contractual terms. Where consideration is received in kind, income
and expenditure are grossed up on the basis of arms length commercial rates.

3) Depreciation

The tangible fixed assets of the Group, excluding land, are depreciated on a straight line basis calculated to write down their cost
to estimated residual values over their estimated useful economic lives as follows:

Buildings Up to 50 years
Fixtures and fittings Up to 5 years
Plant and machinery Up to 10 years

Notes to the financial statements

31 May 2007
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3. Net interest payable

Restated
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Interest payable and similar charges

Interest payable on bank and similar loans 2,901 2,829
Interest on finance lease and hire purchase arrangements - 18
Bank charges 107 127

Total 3,008 2,974

Interest receivable and similar income

Short term deposits 173 90
Other finance income arising on FRS 17 (see Note 22) 10 13

Total 183 103

Net interest payable 2,825 2,871

4. (Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Restated
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Depreciation on owned assets 3,622 3,483
Accelerated depreciation (exceptional) 330 -
Release of deferred income (1,252) (1,196)
Rental of land and buildings 70 70
Profit on sale of fixed assets - (145)

Exceptional items (excluding depreciation) Notes

Reorganisation costs (a) 330 288
Litigation costs (b) 710 1,565
Increased provision for slow moving stock (c) 100 -
Increased provision for doubtful debts & similar adjustments (d) 1,826 -
Provision against joint venture (e) - 6

Total exceptional items 2,966 1,859
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2. Segmental information

As set out in the Directors’ report, the Group has only one business segment but the information below is provided as additional information.

Business analysis

(a) Turnover Restated
2007 2006

Turnover is analysed as follows: £’000 £’000

Match income 24,189 25,817
Competition income 4,696 3,344
Commercial income 8,417 8,052
Other event income 4,295 6,132
Other income 1,745 2,409
Government related grants 436 343

43,778 46,097

Other event income represents amounts receivable for staging fees and similar within Millennium Stadium plc which are not events promoted by
the Company. Other income includes £0.1m (2006: £0.1m) of grants received from the Sports Council of Wales matched by expenditure
included in Community rugby costs. Other income also includes a surplus from the British Lions of £0.8m in 2006. Government related grants are
Objective 1 funding received from the Welsh Assembly Government in respect of the Regional Age-Grade Academies as shown in Note 5.

(b) Total costs: £’000 £’000

Operational costs (see (c) below) 22,681 22,162
Exceptional costs 2,966 1,859
Depreciation – net of grant release 2,370 2,142
Accelerated depreciation (exceptional) 330 -
Allocations to affiliated organisations (see (d) below) 14,941 11,815

43,288 37,978

(c) Operational costs: £’000 £’000

Business & administration 5,324 5,116
Direct 9,181 8,992
Elite rugby 2,228 2,224
Community rugby 1,635 1,719
Stadium 4,313 4,111

22,681 22,162

(d) Allocations to affiliates

These are analysed as follows: £’000 £’000

Regions – professional rugby 11,025 8,348
Clubs – semi-professional rugby 1,000 800
Clubs – community rugby 2,916 2,667

14,941 11,815

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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5. Staff numbers and costs

Restated
Staff numbers 2007 2006

The average number of employees during the year was:
Management and administration 50 42
Direct (National Squad management) 23 20
Elite rugby 25 24
Community rugby (including district development officers) 35 33
Stadium 35 34

168 153

The above staff numbers do not include any players representing national teams, stewards employed for events nor do they include the
non-executive directors of the Company. However, the staff numbers include 9 (full time equivalents) District Development Officers (“DDOs”)
who are employees of various local authorities.

Staff costs
Restated

The staff costs during the year were as follows: £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 5,099 4,335
Social security costs 528 475
Pension costs – defined benefit in accordance with FRS17 120 103
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 147 163

5,894 5,076
Reorganisation costs 330 288

6,224 5,364

Included in the above costs are some 16 (2006:16) employees for which the Group receives Objective 1 funding from the Welsh
Assembly Government in respect of the Regional Age-Grade Academies. The above costs are shown without deduction of the Objective
1 funding which is included in other income within turnover (see Note 2).

Also included in the above costs, are contributions amounting to £0.3m (2006: £0.2m) towards the DDOs.

In addition to the above amounts, £0.8m (2006: £0.9m) is paid as remuneration to the players whilst representing the national teams.
These costs are included in Direct Costs (see Note 2).

Directors’ emoluments

Restated
The directors’ emoluments during the year were as follows: £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 221 209
Compensation for loss of office - 288
Pension costs 8 -

229 497
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4. (Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (continued)

During the year, the Group has suffered exceptional charges which primarily do not relate to the trading activities of the year ended 31
May 2007. These items have arisen largely in respect of judgements taken in the year as to impairment of assets. In order to assist in
understanding the Group’s results and, in view of the materiality of the exceptional items to the current year’s results, the Directors believe
that it is appropriate to show separately the operating profit of the Group before exceptional items on the face of the profit and loss account
as additional information. Detailed commentary is shown below:

(a) Following a change in the management structure, a programme of restructuring was undertaken by management. The costs of
redundancies and compensation for loss of office have been identified as an exceptional cost in the year.

(b) These litigation costs arise from disputes settled in each of the respective years.

(c) At the year end, the management performed a review of stock and concluded that some stock items were slow moving and provided
against these amounts accordingly. This item is shown as exceptional as the stock had been held for some years and does not relate
to the trading of 2007.

(d) At the year end, management performed a detailed review of the balance sheet and concluded that, inter alia, a further provision
was required against some amounts recoverable and liabilities under accrued. Many of these items were present at the previous year
end and do not relate to the trading of 2007.

(e) In 2006 the Group provided against an investment in a joint-venture.

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Fees payable to Company auditor for the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts 40 40

Non-audit services; fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services:

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 30 30

Other services (including taxation) 2 6

In addition to the above services, the Group’s auditor acted as auditor to The Welsh Rugby Union Limited Senior Employees’ Pension
Scheme. The appointment of auditors to the Group’s pension schemes and the fees paid in respect of those audits are agreed by the
Trustees of each scheme, who act independently from the management of the Group. The aggregate fees paid to the Group’s auditor for
audit services to the pension schemes during the year were £2,500 (2006:£2,500).

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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7. Profit of the Company

The Company has not presented its own profit and loss account, as permitted by section 230(1)(b) Companies Act 1985. The profit
before tax for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the Company was £1.1m (2006: £5.0m).

8. Tangible fixed assets

Stadium Other Land Other Group Company
buildings fixed Total Total

assets

Cost £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 June 2006 127,860 1,669 37,629 2,546 169,704 40,178
Additions 56 28 - 200 284 32
Disposals (590) - - - (590) -

At 31 May 2007 127,326 1,697 37,629 2,746 169,398 40,210

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 June 2006 22,333 269 - 898 23,500 948
Charge for the year 3,771 110 - 71 3,952 150
Disposals (590) - - - (590) -

At 31 May 2007 25,514 379 - 969 26,862 1,098

Net book value
At 31 May 2007 101,812 1,318 37,629 1,777 142,536 39,112
At 31 May 2006 105,527 1,400 37,629 1,648 146,204 39,230

Included in the cost of the stadium are cumulative capitalised interest costs of £4.6m (2006: £4.6m). The depreciation charge includes
an amount of £0.1m (2006: £0.1m) representing the depreciation of interest previously capitalised.

All the land and buildings are held under a freehold interest other than an element which is covered by a 999 year lease.

Other fixed assets comprise plant and machinery and fixtures and fittings. The tangible fixed assets of the Company predominantly relate
to land as shown above.
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5. Staff numbers and costs (continued)

Emoluments of the highest paid director

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

The emoluments of the highest paid director during the year were as follows:

Wages and salaries 138 157
Compensation for loss of office - 288
Pension costs 8 -

146 445

The emoluments above include £25,000 payable to a company controlled by the Chairman. The Group received £69,000
(2006:£27,000) from third parties in respect of the above emoluments.

No Directors were members of the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme. The pension costs relate to payments made to defined
contribution schemes.

6. Tax
Restated

£’000 £’000

(a) Analysis of charge in the year

Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year - 1,500
Total current tax (Note 6(b)) - 1,500

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (245) 739
Total deferred tax (245) 739

Total tax on profit on ordinary activities (245) 2,239

((bb)) FFaaccttoorrss aaffffeeccttiinngg tthhee ccuurrrreenntt ttaaxx cchhaarrggee ffoorr tthhee yyeeaarr

The current tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30%. The differences are
explained below:

Restated
£’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax (2,335) 5,248

(Loss)/profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax (700) 1,574
in the UK of 30% (2006: 30%)
Accelerated capital allowances 245 -
Permanent differences 455 (74)

Current tax charge for year (Note 6(a)) - 1,500
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11. Debtors

Amounts due within one year: Restated

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade debtors 4,625 4,480 1,335 2,164
Other debtors 466 1,024 14 28
Prepayments and accrued income 4,003 3,190 1,730 1,246
Loans due from clubs 45 45 45 45

9,139 8,739 3,124 3,483
Amounts due after more than one year:

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings - - 2,671 3,949
Loans due from clubs 172 276 172 276

172 276 2,843 4,225

Total debtors 9,311 9,015 5,967 7,708

12. Defined benefit pension asset

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Defined benefit pension scheme (Note 22)
Surplus on defined benefit pension scheme 282 166 282 166
Deferred tax on surplus on scheme (80) (50) (80) (50)

202 116 202 116

13. Cash at bank and in hand

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash balance at bank 5,832 5,752 5,923 4,858
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9. Investments

The Group hold no material investments.

The Company held a £50,000 equity investment in Millennium Stadium plc at both 31 May 2007 and 31 May 2006.

Subsidiary and other investments, all held directly the Company, as at 31 May 2007 were:

Company Principal activity Country of incorporation % holding of
ordinary shares

Millennium Stadium plc (Note 1) Stadia operation United Kingdom 100%

WRU Supporters Club Limited Marketing United Kingdom 100%

Six Nations Rugby Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 17%

European Rugby Cup Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 19%

Celtic Rugby Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 33%

British Lions Limited Overseas rugby tours Republic of Ireland 25%

In addition, the Group holds an investment of £5,000 in a joint venture company, The Vale Indoor Arena Limited (“VIA”), for the use of
national training facilities. The costs relating to this facility are included in the financial statements and are some £125,000
(2006:£125,000).

At 31 May 2007 and 31 May 2006, the Group and Company’s share of the net assets of VIA were negligible.

Given the disposition of the other shareholdings, and the immateriality of their net surpluses and net assets after receipt of dividends by
the Group in the other investments above, the Directors do not believe that these investments fall to be treated as associate companies.
Fixed assets investments are stated at the lower of cost and valuation.

Note 1

Cardiff City Council (“CCC”) own one share in Millennium Stadium plc; this share grants only certain rights and does not grant CCC any
dividends nor any rights to amounts receivable upon winding up.

10. Stock

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Goods for resale 270 288 270 288
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Debenture loans Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Payable in:
2021 360 360 360 360
2024 24,587 24,587 24,587 24,587
2027 2,425 2,425 2,425 2,425
2028 350 350 350 350
2030 4,782 3,432 4,833 3,432
2035 1,789 1,795 1,795 1,795
2050 3,032 2,975 2,975 2,975

37,325 35,924 37,325 35,924

All debenture loans are unsecured and bear no interest. The movement on debenture loans is analysed as follows:

Group and Company 2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Balance brought forward 35,924 34,898
Additions 1,350 1,020
Upgrades 51 6

Balance carried forward 37,325 35,924

Security provided on bank loans

Bank loans totalling £55.0m (2006: £55.0m) are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries.

Loans repayable by instalments wholly or partly after 5 years

Bank loans, with a total value of £55.0m (2006: £55.0m), are repayable wholly or partly from the balance sheet date by instalments.
Of these amounts, £53.5m (2006: £53.4m) is repayable after five years.

Debenture loans, with a total value of £37.3m (2006: £35.9m), are repayable wholly or partly from the balance sheet date by
instalments. Of these amounts, £37.3m (2006: £35.9m) is repayable after five years.

The principal terms of these loans are set out below:

Bank loans Interest and capital repayment terms 2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Tranche A Bank base plus 1.50%; loan repayable in instalments by 2039 36,730 36,939
Tranche B 5.00%; loan repayable in 2024 8,272 8,102
Tranche C Interest and capital is payable only in the event of default or certain 10,000 10,000

other defined events
55,002 55,041

The principal terms of the bank loans shown above relate to the primary instrument and do not take account of derivative instruments.
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14. Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year: Restated
Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans 152 301 - -
Trade creditors 4,937 5,846 759 1,483
Corporation tax 2,085 2,310 2,085 2,310
Other tax and social security 1,640 1,476 1,230 1,171
Other creditors 710 186 418 186
Accruals and deferred income 4,662 5,074 2,709 2,542

14,186 15,193 7,201 7,692

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans 54,850 54,740 - -
Debentures 37,325 35,924 37,325 35,924

92,175 90,664 37,325 35,924

Bank and debenture loans falling due after more than one year are as follows:

Bank loans Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Repayable:
Between one and two years 306 313 - -
Between two and five years 1,049 1,026 - -
In more than five years 53,495 53,401 - -

54,850 54,740 - -
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Included within the grants amounts above is an amount received from Big Lottery (formerly the Millennium Commission) amounting to
£36.8m (2006: £38.0m). This grant will be released to the profit and loss account as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Within one year 1,196 1,196
Between one and two years 1,196 1,196
Between two and five years 3,588 3,588
In more than five years 30,851 32,047

36,831 38,027

In certain circumstances, the above grant can become repayable if the Group fails to meet the monitoring requirements of the grant. The
Group is currently in full compliance with the monitoring requirements such that no monies are repayable under the terms of the grant.

17. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred tax

The movement on deferred tax is as follows: Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 June as previously reported 1,221 1,095 - -
Prior years adjustments (see Note 19) 3,881 3,268 - -

Balance at 1 June as restated 5,102 4,363 - -
Released to the profit and loss account (245) 739 - -

At 31 May 4,857 5,102 - -

Deferred tax provided is 
made up as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances 5,418 5,663 - -
Tax losses carried forward (561) (561) - -

4,857 5,102 - -

A reduction in the main rate of corporation tax from 30% to 28% from 1 April 2008 was contained in the 2007 Finance Act. The 2007
Finance Act had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and so the numbers reported in the financial statements have
not been adjusted for this change. The effect of the change would be to decrease the deferred tax liability provided at 31 May 2007
by approximately £324,000.

T H E W E L S H  R U G B Y  U N I O N  L I M I T E D  -  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7 63

15. Borrowings and financial instruments

Treasury policy

Treasury activity is focused on monitoring working capital, managing external funding and managing interest rate risk. Treasury activity is
not a profit centre and the Group neither enters into transactions of a speculative nature nor trades in financial instruments. Treasury risk
management policies are summarised below:

• Interest rate risk – operations are financed through a mixture of bank borrowings, debenture loans and hire purchase
arrangements. The Group borrows in fixed and floating rates of interest and also uses interest rate swaps to generate the
desired interest profile and to manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy to keep a proportion of
its bank borrowings at fixed rates of interest and as at 31 May 2007 some 80% (2006: 80%) was subject to hedging
arrangements

• Liquidity risk – the Group’s policy is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. As at 31 May
2007, 2% (2006: 2%) of borrowings were due to mature within five years, some 4% (2006: 3%) were due to mature
between five years and fifteen years and some 94% (2006: 95%) were due to mature after fifteen years

Financial instruments

At 31 May 2007 the average notional principal amounts of derivatives relating to interest rate swap and cap and collar agreements
were £36.0m (2006: £36.1m) and are analysed as follows:

Instrument Principal Fair market value Maturity date
£’000 £’000

Interest rate swap 5.39% 18,000 17,744 31 December 2018
Interest rate cap 4.95% (5.20% from 31 December 2008) 19,000 17,527 31 March 2017
Interest rate floor 4.25% (4.75% from 31 December 2008) 17,000 17,403 31 March 2017

The fair market value of the interest rate swap and the interest rate cap is favourable to the Group. The fair market value of the interest
rate floor is not favourable to the Group.

16. Accruals and deferred income

Restated
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Grants 37,696 38,887
Other deferred income 4,673 4,979

42,369 43,866

During the year some £1.2m (2006:£1.2m) was released to the profit and loss account from the grant amount shown above.
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Prior year adjustments

The prior year adjustments, which have an impact on net assets, can be analysed as follows:
Impact on years Impact on 2006 Total

prior to 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000

Changes in accounting policy (see Note 1)
(a). Outbound tours (354) 96 (258)
(b). Retirement benefits 139 (189) (50)
Group and Company (215) (93) (308)

Deferred tax (Group) (3,268) (613) (3,881)
Total - Group (3,483) (706) (4,189)

The prior year adjustment in respect of deferred tax relates to a change in accounting policy (see Note 1) and errors relating to both the
calculation and disclosure in the 2006 accounts. The extent to which the prior year adjustment can be analysed between a policy change
and an error is limited by the nature and uncertainties relating to the calculation. The gross deferred tax, prior to discount was included
in the 2006 accounts as being a liability of £1.6m; this has been amended to show a gross liability of £5.1m. It is not possible to
determine the impact on the discount that would have applied to this gross liability without incurring undue cost relative to the nature of
the disclosure.

The policy change in respect of capital grants and the presentation of liabilities on the balance sheet does not affect net assets.

Impact on current year:

The impact of the accounting policy change on the current year has resulted in an increase/(decrease) to the profit before tax as follows:

Profit and loss account £’000

Increase/(decrease) in operating profit:
(a). Outbound tours 140
(b). Retirement benefits (27)
Changes to operating profit 113
Net interest payable 10

Total impact on profit before tax 123

The impact of the accounting policy changes has been to increase/(decrease) the total recognised gains and losses as follows:

Total recognised gains and losses £’000

Actuarial assumptions on pension schemes per FRS17 134
Movement on deferred tax on pension schemes (30)

Total impact on recognised gains and losses 104
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18. Company limited by guarantee

The liability of the members is limited. Every member of the Company undertakes to contribute such amounts as may be required (not
exceeding £1) to the Company’s assets if it should be wound up while the member is a member, or within one year after a member ceases
to be a member, for payment of the Company’s liabilities contracted before a member ceased to be a member. The number of is members
is 241 (2006:241).

19. Reserves

Profit and loss account Other reserves Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Group

At 1 June 2006 as previously stated 8,425 2,314 10,739
Prior year adjustments (4,189) - (4,189)
At 1 June 2006 as restated 4,236 2,314 6,550
Retained loss for the year (2,090) - (2,090)
Actuarial gain on pension schemes 134 - 134
Deferred tax movement on pension schemes (30) - (30)
At 31 May 2007 – including pension assets 2,250 2,314 4,564

Pension assets (202) - (202)
At 31 May 2007 – excluding pension assets 2,048 2,314 4,362

Company

At 1 June 2006 6,332 2,610 8,942
Prior year adjustments (308) - (308)
At 1 June 2006 as restated 6,024 2,610 8,634
Retained loss for the year (1,740) - (1,740)
Actuarial gain on pension schemes 134 - 134
Deferred tax movement on pension schemes (30) - (30)
At 31 May 2007– including pension assets 4,388 2,610 6,998

Pension assets (202) - (202)
At 31 May 2007 – excluding pension assets 4,186 2,610 6,796

Company - Retained loss for the year is analysed as follows:

Profit before tax 1,060
Tax charge - group relief payable to Millennium Stadium plc (2,800)

(1,740)
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22. Pension costs

The assets of the defined contribution pension schemes are held separately from those of the Group, under independent administration.
The pension cost charge for these schemes represents contributions payable by the Group to the schemes in the year amounting to some
£0.2m (2006: £0.2m). There are no amounts included in creditors in respect of these pension costs in 2007 or 2006.

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme as follows:

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited Senior Employees’ Pension Scheme (“WRUSEPS”)

WRUSEPS is a defined benefit scheme which is closed to new entrants. The WRUSEPS assets are held in separate trustee administered
funds. Contributions to WRUSEPS are assessed in accordance with the advice of an independent qualified actuary on the basis of triennial
valuations.

The latest valuation of WRUSEPS, prepared as at 1 May 2004, was based on the Projected Unit Method of Valuation and the market
value of its assets at that date was some £1.3m. The contribution rates of the Company were 13.0% of pensionable pay from 1 June
2005. The Group’s contributions for the year amounted to some £0.1m (2006: £0.1m). No material amounts at 31 May, 2007 or 31
May, 2006 were included in creditors, being contributions collected from the employees and the Company at the year end not yet paid
over to the WRUSEPS.

The Group has elected to account for defined benefit pension schemes in accordance with FRS 17. As stated in Note 1, FRS 17 prescribes
the basis for valuing defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities. The prescribed basis for valuing the schemes’ liabilities differs from the
basis used by the schemes’ actuaries in producing periodic valuations of the schemes.

The main financial assumptions used in the valuation of the pension schemes under FRS 17 are:

2007 2006
% %

Assumptions
Inflation 3.2 2.8
Rate of increase in salaries 5.2 4.8
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 3.2 2.8
Rate of increase of pensions in deferment 3.2 2.8
Discount rate 5.5 5.0

WRUSEPS has a number of purchased annuities in respect of past retirements. These are understood to fully match the associated liabilities
and so have been excluded from both the assets and liabilities. In addition, WRUSEPS has additional voluntary contributions invested; these
are also understood to fully match the associated liabilities and so have been excluded from both the assets and liabilities.

Expected rate of return Expected rate of return

2007 2006
% £’000 % £’000

Assets
Group pension contract 5.5 1,855 5.1 1,598
Cash 4.9 - 4.5 3

1,855 1,601
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20. Contingent liabilities

Group

The Group had the following contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2007:

• The Group has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have received
from Barclays Bank plc. The amounts due are £2.7m (2006: £3.0m)

The Group is dealing with a small number of legal claims. The directors have reviewed all of these claims and, on the basis of legal advice
received, believe that no provision is necessary. Consequently no provision for these claims has been included in these financial statements.

Company

The Company had the following contingent liabilities as at 31 May 2007:

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of one of its subsidiaries under the terms of banking arrangements and grant
arrangements amounting to £55.0m (2006: £55.0m) and £46.0m (2006: £46.0m) respectively

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have
received from Barclays Bank plc. The amounts due are £2.7m (2006: £3.0m)

21. Commitments

Capital commitments of the Group: 2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Authorised and contracted for: 885 -

Operating lease commitments:

At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following annual commitments, under non-cancellable operating leases:

£’000 £’000
Land and buildings
Expiring during years two to five 70 70
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Details of experience gains and losses

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Difference between the expected and actual return on
scheme assets:

Amount (£’000) 77 106 75 3 (26)
Percentage of scheme assets 4% 7% 6% 0% (2)%

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities:
Amount (£’000) 15 (12) 96 84 84
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 1% (1)% 9% 7% 7%

Total amount recognised in statement of total
recognised gains and losses:

Amount (£’000) 42 (128) (81) 40 (113)

Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 3% (9)% (7)% 4% (9)%

23. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities

Pre-exceptional Exceptional Total
2007 2007 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

EBITDA 21,097 - 21,097 23,935
Allocations to affiliated organisations (14,941) - (14,941) (11,815)
Exceptional items - (2,966) (2,966) (1,859)
Depreciation & profit on sale of fixed assets (3,622) (330) (3,952) (3,338)
Release of deferred income 1,252 - 1,252 1,196

Operating profit 3,786 (3,296) 490 8,119

Non-cash items:
Depreciation & profit on sale of fixed assets 3,622 330 3,952 3,338
Release of deferred income (1,252) - (1,252) (1,196)

2,370 330 2,700 2,142

Working capital adjustments:
Decrease/(increase) in stock (82) 100 18 (168)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (2,145) 1,246 (899) 1,800
Decrease in creditors (1,456) 747 (709) (4,938)
Decrease in accruals and deferred income (399) 93 (306) (414)

(4,082) 2,186 (1,896) (3,720)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 2,074 (780) 1,294 6,541
operating activities

The amount of £0.8m shown above as exceptional cash outflow represents payments made in respect of the reorganisation and
litigation costs as shown in Note 4.
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22. Pension costs (continued)

The following amounts at 31 May have been measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 17:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Fair market value of assets 1,855 1,601
Actuarial value of liabilities (1,573) (1,435)
Excess of assets over liabilities 282 166
Related deferred tax liability (80) (50)

Net pension surplus 202 116

The amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows:
£’000 £’000

Operating profit
Current service costs 120 103

Other finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 84 73
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (74) (60)

Net return 10 13

£’000 £’000

Statement of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 77 106
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities 15 (12)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities 42 (128)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the consolidated statement of total 134 (34)
recognised gains and losses

£’000 £’000
Movement in surplus during the year

Surplus at beginning of the year 166 199

Movement in year:
Current service cost (120) (103)
Contributions 92 91
Other finance income 10 13
Actuarial gain/(loss) 134 (34)

Pension scheme surplus at end of the year 282 166

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

T H E W E L S H  R U G B Y  U N I O N  L I M I T E D  -  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 768



We have audited the Group and Company financial statements
(the “financial statements”) of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
for the year ended 31 May 2007 which comprise the
consolidated profit & loss account, the consolidated and
Company balance sheets, the consolidated cash flow statement,
the consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
and the related notes.  These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an Auditor’s Report and for no other
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone, other than the
Company or the Company’s members as a body, for our audit
work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
As described in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the
directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements,
and our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.  We also report
to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent
with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and transactions with the Group and Company is not disclosed.

We read the directors’ report and the other information
contained in the annual report for the above year and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any further information outside the annual report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with international
standards on auditing issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.  It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s or the
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give us
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error.  In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements.

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice of the state of affairs of the Group and
Company as at 31 May 2007 and of the result and cash flows
of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
the information given in the director’s report is consistent with
the financial statements.

Walter Hunter & Co Limited
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditor
24 Bridge Street
Newport, NP20 4SF

2 October 2007

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
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24. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Increase in cash in the year 80 5,142
Cash outflow from movement in debt, finance lease and hire purchase arrangements (1,362) (751)

(Increase)/decrease in net debt during the year (1,282) 4,391
Net debt at the beginning of the year (85,213) (89,604)

Net debt at the end of the year (86,495) (85,213)

25. Analysis of net debt

Cash Debt due Debt due Finance lease Debentures Total
within after one and hire 

one year year purchase
arrangements

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 May 2006 5,752 (301) (54,740) - (35,924) (85,213)
Cashflow 80 39 - - (1,401) (1,282)
Non-cash changes - 110 (110) - - -

At 31 May 2007 5,832 (152) (54,850) - (37,325) (86,495)

At 31 May 2005 610 (309) (54,907) (100) (34,898) (89,604)

Cashflow 5,142 8 167 100 (1,026) 4,391

Non-cash changes - - - - - -

At 31 May 2006 5,752 (301) (54,740) - (35,924) (85,213)

26. Related party transactions

In accordance with the exemption afforded by FRS 8, ‘related party transactions’, there is no disclosure in these financial statements of
transactions with entities that are part of the Group.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Welsh Rugby Group – Executive Board

Chairman:
Roger Lewis (Group Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 30 October 2006 )

Executive:
Tim Burton, Head of Operations

Gwyn Dolphin, Head of Marketing
(appointed on 3 September 2007)

Mike Jefferies, Head of Legal Services
(appointed on 1 May 2007)

Julie Paterson, Head of Compliance

Steve Phillips, Group Finance Director
(appointed on 1 February 2007)

Mostyn Richards, Elite Performance Manager

Gerry Toms, Stadium Manager

John Williams, Head of Communications
(appointed on 1 February 2007)

Board Committees
During the year, the Board operated three principal sub-
committees to assist in its business. The role and
membership of the sub committees were as follows:

The Finance Committee, chaired by Martin Davies
comprised David Pickering, Kenneth Hewitt, Roger
Lewis, Humphrey Evans, John Jones and Steve Phillips. It
is responsible for all financial matters of the Group other
than dealing with the Group’s auditors.

The Regulatory Committee, chaired by Russell
Howell, comprised Mal Beynon, Geraint Edwards, Brian
Fowler, Ray Wilton and Aurwel Morgan. Non-Board
members included John Owen. It is responsible for
disciplinary matters and the management of all leagues
and cup competitions in operation.

The Game Policy Committee, chaired by Alan
Jones, comprised Roy Giddings, Gethin Jenkins, Gerald
Davies, Mostyn Richards, Peredur Jenkins, Anthony John
and Roger Lewis. Non-Board members included David
Matthews, Mike Farley and Rolph James It is responsible
for the development of the game at all levels, including
age groups, coaching and referees.

Development of Corporate Governance
Both the Board and the Executive Board remain
committed to the continuing development of governance
structures, in order to meet the evolving needs of the
game of rugby union.

The Board & Executive Board acknowledge the value of the
principles of good governance as set out in the combined
code. The Group are committed to adopting the principles
of best practice in corporate governance. Where
applicable, all Board members have undergone training in
the role of the non-executive director, delivered by the
Institute of Directors. The Group are committed to further
training and development of the Board.

Board and Executive Board

There is a clear division of responsibility between the
role of non-executive Chairman and Group Chief
Executive. There is a detailed limit of authority protocol
in place for both the Board and the Executive Board. All
Executive Board members have detailed job descriptions
in addition to limits of authority.

The Board meets on a monthly basis and considers all
matters under its terms of reference which include the
development and monitoring of the Group’s strategic
plan, allocation of financial resources, reviewing the
performance of the Group Chief Executive and Executive
Board and approval of annual budgets.

In addition, the Board considers the recommendation of
the Board’s standing committees, whose responsibilities
relate to Finance, Regulatory and Game Policy as shown
above.
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Welsh Rugby Union Governance
year ended 31 May 2007
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Patron and Office Bearers:

Patron
Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II

Vice Royal Patron
His Royal Highness Prince William

President
Glanmor Griffiths

President elect
Dennis Gethin

Governance of Welsh Rugby
The principal activity of the Group is to promote, foster,
encourage, control and improve the game of rugby
throughout Wales. The Board of the Welsh Rugby Union
Limited (“Board”) is responsible for ensuring that the
principal activity is managed which it does through the
Executive Board. The Board comprises a non-executive
chairman, sixteen non- executive directors and one
executive director. 

The Board of the Welsh Rugby Union Limited

Non-executive chairman:
David Pickering

Executive:
Roger Lewis (Group Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 30 October 2006)

Non-executive members:
Kenneth Hewitt (Vice non-executive chairman)
Mal Beynon
Gerald Davies CBE, DL
Martin Davies
Geraint Edwards
Humphrey Evans
Brian Fowler
Roy Giddings
Russell Howell

Secretary to the Board
Mike Jefferies (appointed on 1 May 2007)

Gethin Jenkins
Peredur Jenkins
Anthony John
Alan Jones
John Jones
Aurwel Morgan
Ray Wilton

A tree planting ceremony to mark the Rugby World Cup 2007 in Cardiff



Registered Office and Advisers

Registered office
1st Floor
Golate House
101 St Mary Street
Cardiff
CF10 1GE

Company number
3419514

Auditors
Walter Hunter & Co Limited
24 Bridge Street
Newport
NP20 4SF
(Not seeking re-appointment at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting)

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
One Kingsway
Cardiff
CF10 3PW
(To be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting)

Principal solicitors
Hugh James
Hodge House
114 - 116 St. Mary Street
Cardiff
CF10 1DY

Bankers
Barclays Bank PLC
3rd Floor
Windsor Court
3 Windsor Place
Cardiff
CF10 3ZL

Printed by Zenith Media
www.zenith-media.co.uk

Pictures provided by Huw Evans picture agency
www.huwevansimages.com
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Welsh Rugby Union Governance
(continued)
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Appointments and Remuneration Panel
The Appointments and Remuneration Panel advises the
Board on the remuneration and terms and conditions of
the Group Chief Executive and the Executive Board. The
panel consists of the Chairman of the Board, the Group
Chief Executive plus the three heads of standing sub-
committees: Finance, Game Policy and Regulatory.

The Audit Panel

The Audit Panel, chaired by Martin Davies, included
John Jones and also David Hammond as a non-Board
member. It is responsible for assisting the Board
discharge its responsibilities for accounting policies,
financial reporting, internal control and risk management
and liaising with the Group’s auditors.

Remuneration and benefits of the Board

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no fees are
payable to non-executive Board members, other than the
nonexecutive chairman who receives a fee of £25,000.
This fee is paid directly to a company controlled by the
non-executive chairman.

In addition, the Board are represented on other rugby
bodies including The International Rugby Board (“IRB”),
Six Nations Rugby Limited, European Rugby Club
Limited and Celtic Rugby Limited all of whom have a
policy of financially compensating the representatives
serving on these bodies. All amounts payable to Roger
Lewis in respect of the above are not retained by Roger
Lewis and are passed to the Company.

The Board of Millennium Stadium plc

Non-executive chairman:
David Pickering

Executive:
Roger Lewis (Group Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 30 October 2006)

Non-executive members:

Lord Faulkner of Worcester
(Vice non-executive chairman)

Mal Beynon

Helen Conway

Byron Davies

Martin Davies

Secretary to the Board:
Mike Jefferies
(appointed on 1 May 2007)

Geraint Edwards

Ken Hewitt

Councillor Nigel Howells

Stella Mair Thomas

Russell Howell and Mal Beynon Geraint EdwardsBrian Fowler and Roy Giddings



KEITH ROWLANDS 

Born Brithdir, 7 February, 1936
Died Cardiff, 18 November, 2006, aged 70.

Keith Rowlands was a towering figure in international
rugby, and the biggest player ever picked by Wales,
when he won the first of his five Welsh caps against
France in March, 1962. 

After his distinguished playing career was brought to a
premature close with a broken leg, he went on to
bestride the world game as a colossus among rugby
administrators. He became a member of the Welsh
Rugby Union General Committee, chairman of the Welsh
selectors, a member of the International Rugby Board,
the first professional General Secretary and then Chief
Executive of the IRB, a founding father of the Rugby
World Cup, Chief Executive of the 1999 RWC in Wales
and eventually President of the WRU.

He joined Llanelli from London Welsh in 1958-59 and
played in the Scarlets' side that lost to the touring
Springboks in 1960. He moved on to Cardiff and he
played 149 games for the Arms Park club between1961-
67. He was in the Cardiff side that lost to New Zealand
in 1963 and captained the side that beat Australia 14-8
in November, 1966.

He made his debut for the Barbarians at Leicester in
March, 1962 - the same month in which he won the first
of his five Welsh caps against France and was picked for
the British Lions tour to South Africa. 

He went on to play in 18 of the Lions' 25 tour fixtures,
playing in three of the four Tests. He scored a try in the
fourth Test.

He joined the committee of Cardiff RFC in 1967, was
club chairman in 1974-1975 and then joined the WRU
as a District B representative. He became an IRB
representative in 1983.

In 1988, he became the IRB’s first General Secretary
and masterminded the move from Bristol to Dublin.
Having been an amateur administrator who was co-
opted onto the original Tournament Committee,
Rowlands went on to become one of the key
professionals who helped turn the Rugby World Cup into
one of the top four global sporting events. 

He became President of the WRU in 2004 and died of
a heart attack a short time after watching Wales beat
Canada at the Millennium Stadium.
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SIR TASKER WATKINS 

Born Nelson, 18 November, 1918
Died Cardiff, 9 September, 2007, aged 88.

Welsh rugby lost one of its greatest servants with the
passing through natural causes of the Honorary Life Vice
Patron of the Welsh Rugby Union (“WRU”), Sir Tasker
Watkins. 

He had a lifelong love affair with rugby union and had
been chairman of the Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust since
1975. He became the 46th President of the WRU in
1993 and held that post until 2004, when he stood
down.

At that time the WRU promptly created a new post of
Honorary Life Vice Patron especially for him. The Patron
of the WRU is The Queen. 

He was also president of Glamorgan Wanderers RFC,
for whom he played before and after World War II.

He chaired the Sir Tasker Watkins Working Party that
looked into the running of the game in Wales at the start
of the new millennium, although their findings failed to
receive the 75% majority required to come into being.
However, the Working Party's review of the WRU’s
constitution and the way the game was run did bring
about wholesale change in 2002.

Sir Tasker served as a Lieutenant and then Major in the
Welch Regiment during World War II and was awarded
the Victoria Cross in 1944. After the war he launched a
long and distinguished career in law that reached its
peak when he was appointed senior Presiding Judge for
England and Wales in 1983.

He was President of the University of Wales College of
Medicine for 11 years and President of the British
Legion, Wales, between 1947-68. 

Appointed Deputy Lieutenant of Glamorgan in 1956, Sir
Tasker became an Honorary Deputy Lord Lieutenant of
Wales in 1979 and of Glamorgan in 1996 and an
Honorary Fellow of the Royal College of Surgeons in
1992.

In addition to his Victoria Cross, which is on display at
the Welch Regiment Museum located in Cardiff Castle,
he was knighted in 1971, made a Privy Counsellor in
1980 and awarded the Knight Grand Cross of the
Order of the British Empire (GBE) in 1990 and the Knight
of St John (KStJ) in 1998.

In April, 2006, he was made an Honorary Freeman of
the City of Cardiff.



JOHN ROBINS

Born 17 May, 1926 in Cardiff
Died 21 February, 2007 in Cardiff, aged 80.

John Robins scaled the heights of the international game
as a member of the 1950 Welsh Grand Slam side and
as a Test player for the British & Irish Lions in New
Zealand and Australia later that year.

He also went on to become the first coach to the British
Lions in 1966. Born in Cardiff, he played for the Anglo-
Welsh Public Schools side that played the Wales
Secondary Schools at Cardiff Arms Park in 1940, when
the team was led by his future Wales and Lions team
mate Bleddyn Williams.

He played for the England and the Scottish Services and
was given an England Trial in 1948 while playing for
Birkenhead Park. But he remained true to Wales and was
picked to play at prop against England at Twickenham
at the start of the 1950 championship.

Wales completed the Grand Slam that season and
Robins was one of 14 Welsh players picked to tour
Australasia with the Lions that summer. He played in 16
of the 23 tour games and five of the six Tests. 

He played for Wales throughout the 1951 championship
and then won three more caps in 1953. In 1954 he
joined the PE department at Loughborough College.

He was their rugby coach until 1968 before moving to
Sheffield University to become director of physical
education and recreation.

He spent a decade in that post before returning to his home
town to take up the post of director of physical education
at University of Wales, Cardiff. He retired in 1988. 
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BRIAN WILLIAMS

Born 9 July,1962 in
Maenclochog.
Died 7 February,2006 in
Llangolman, aged 43.

Pembrokeshire farmer Brian
Williams made his
international debut against
the Scots in 1990 and went
on to win five caps as a prop.
After joining Neath he
became a legendary figure in
the club game in Wales.

He formed an all-farming front row with near neighbours
Kevin Phillips and John Davies at The Gnoll and made
more than 250 appearances for the Welsh All Blacks
between 1983 and 1995, playing for the club against
New Zealand, Australia and South Africa in that time.

He weighed 14st 2lbs and was 6ft 1in tall, but within
that wiry frame was, pound for pound, one of the most
powerful rugby players in the world. He helped Neath to
win the WRU Challenge Cup twice, the League title and
two Western Mail championships.

He was also at the heart of the side that set a new world
tries (385) and points (1,917) records for a season in
1988/89. Four years after retiring he made a cameo
appearance for the club against Georgia.

Williams’ five appearances for Wales all ended in
defeat. His debut was against Scotland in Cardiff in
1990 and his final appearance came against England in
1991.

BILL CLEMENT 

Born 9 April, 1915 in Llanelli
Died 11 February, 2007 in Cardiff, aged 91.

Clement became only the fifth Secretary of the WRU in
1956 and presided over 62 full home Tests in his 25
year tenure. 

Born in Llanelli, he played for Felinfoel before joining
ther Scarlets in 1934, making an instant impact with 21
tries in his first season. 

He top scored again with 30 tries in the 1936/37
season and notched 21 in 1937/38, ending with a
career tally of 83 from a five season stint at Stradey
which also included an appearance against the 1935
All Blacks. He was club captain for the 1938/39
campaign, but was forced to hand over the reigns to Ivor
Jones when a knee injury ended his career.

He won the first of six caps against England at
Twickenham on 16 January, 1937 and his consistent
performances clinched selection for the 1938 Lions tour
to South Africa, where he scored four tries in six games.

During World War 11 he was a Major in the 4th
Battalion, Welch Regiment and was awarded the
Military Cross in 1944 after the Battle of the Bulge.

Post war he joined the civil service and became the chief
internal auditor of Brecon County Council. He took up
his position at the WRU on 1 February, 1956 and during
his time in office Wales won the championship outright
nine times, did the Grand Slam three times and won the
Triple Crown seven times.

His reign as Secretary fittingly came to an end after the
WRU had celebrated its Centenary season in 1980/81.
He was made OBE for his services to rugby in 1981.

One minute silence for Sir Tasker
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Title Sponsor

Broadcast Partners

Sponsors / Suppliers

Principle Partners Community Partners

Leading Welsh rugby to the
forefront of the global game
in performance and
reputation

Developing grass roots rugby,
increasing participation,
supporting clubs and bringing
communities together

Promoting the Millennium
Stadium as a unique, must
play, must visit venue



The Welsh Rugby Union Limited and Millennium Stadium plc
1st Floor Golate House
101 St. Mary Street
Cardiff. CF10 1GE
Tel. +44 (0) 870 013 8600
Email. info@wru.co.uk
www.wru.co.uk
www.millenniumstadium.com


